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37. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group’s principal financial instruments are composed of cash and cash equivalents, financial
assets at FVTPL, financial assets at FVTOCI and investment securities at amortized cost, loans
from financial institutions, mortgage and contracts receivables and other receivables.  The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise financing for the Group’s operations.  The main
objectives of the Group’s financial risk management are as follows:

∂ To identify and monitor such risks on an ongoing basis;
∂ To minimize and mitigate such risks; and,
∂ To provide a degree of certainty about costs.

Banking and Financial Operations
Risk Management
To ensure that corporate goals and objectives and business and risk strategies are achieved, EW
utilizes a risk management process that is applied throughout the organization in executing all
business activities.  Employees’ functions and roles fall into 1 of the 3 categories where risk must
be managed in the business units, operating units and governance units.

EW’s activities are principally related to the use of financial instruments and are exposed to credit
risk, liquidity risk, operational risk and market risk, the latter being subdivided into trading and
non-trading risks.  Forming part of a coherent risk management system are the risk concepts,
control tools, analytical models, statistical methodologies, historical researches and market
analysis, which are being employed by EW.  These tools support the key risk process that involves
identifying, measuring, controlling and monitoring risks.

Risk Management Structure
a. BOD

EW’s risk culture is practiced and observed across EW putting the prime responsibility on the
BOD.  It establishes the risk culture and the risk management organization and incorporates
the risk process as an essential part of the strategic plan of EW.  The BOD approves EW’s
articulation of risk appetite which is used internally to help management understand the
tolerance for risk in each of the major risk categories, its measurement and key controls
available that influence EW’s level of risk taking.  All risk management policies and policy
amendments, risk-taking limits such as but not limited to credit and trade transactions, market
risk limits, counterparty limits, trader’s limits and activities are based on EW’s established
approving authorities which are approved by EW’s BOD.  At a high level, the BOD also
approves EW’s framework for managing risk.

b. Executive Committee
This is a board level committee, which reviews the bank-wide credit strategy, profile and
performance.  It approves the credit risk-taking activities based on EW’s established
approving authorities and likewise reviews and endorses credit-granting activities, including
the Internal Credit Risk Rating System.  All credit proposals beyond the credit approving limit
of the Loan and Investments Committee passes through this committee for final approval.

c. Loan and Investments Committee
This committee is headed by the Chairman of EW whose primary responsibility is to oversee
EW’s credit risk-taking activities and overall adherence to the credit risk management
framework, review business/credit risk strategies, quality and profitability of EW’s credit
portfolio and recommend changes to the credit evaluation process, credit risk acceptance



- 136 -

*SGVFS033664*

criteria and the minimum and target return per credit or investment transaction.
All credit risk-taking activities based on EW’s established approving authorities are evaluated
and approved by this committee.  It establishes an infrastructure by ensuring business units
have the right systems and adequate and competent manpower support to effectively manage
its credit risk.

d. ALCO
ALCO, a management level committee, meets on a weekly basis and is responsible for the
over-all management of EW’s market, liquidity, and financial position related risks.  It
monitors EW’s liquidity position and reviews the impact of strategic decisions on liquidity.  It
is responsible for managing liquidity risks and ensuring exposures remain within established
tolerance levels.  The ALCO’s primary responsibilities include, among others, (a) ensuring
that EW and each business unit holds sufficient liquid assets of appropriate quality and in
appropriate currencies to meet short-term funding and regulatory requirements, (b) managing
financial position and ensuring that business strategies are consistent with its liquidity, capital
and funding strategies, (c) establishing asset and/or liability pricing policies that are consistent
with the financial position objectives, (d) recommending market and liquidity risk limits to the
Risk Management Committee and BOD and (e) approving the assumptions used in
contingency and funding plans.  It also reviews cash flow forecasts, stress testing scenarios
and results, and implements liquidity limits and guidelines.

e. Risk Management Committee (RMC)
RMC is a board level committee that convenes monthly and is primarily responsible to assist
the Board in managing the EW’s risk taking activities.  This is performed by the committee by
institutionalizing risk policies and overseeing EW’s risk management system.  It develops and
recommends risk appetite and tolerances for the EW’s major risk exposures to the Board.
Risk management principles, strategies, framework, policies, processes, and initiatives and
any modifications and amendments thereto are reviewed and approved by RMC.  It oversees
and reports to the Board the effectiveness of the risk management system, overall risk profile,
and compliance with the risk appetite and tolerances that the Board approved.

f. Risk Management Subcommittee (RMSC)
RMSC is a management level committee that convenes, at least four times in a year, and is
responsible to assist RMC in fulfilling its responsibilities in managing EW’s risk taking
activities. This is performed by the committee by implementing the risk management
principles, strategies, framework, policies, processes, and initiatives across EW.  It leads the
effective conduct of risk and capital management.  It oversees and directs the management of
EW’s overall risk profile. The committee likewise oversees risk incidents, control gaps, and
control deficiencies and management actions in implementing the corresponding corrective
actions.

g. Audit Committee (Audit Com)
The Audit Com assists the BOD in fulfilling its responsibilities for overseeing senior
management in establishing and maintaining an adequate, effective and efficient internal
control framework.  It ensures that systems and processes are designed to provide reasonable
assurance in areas including reporting, monitoring compliance with laws, regulations and
internal policies, efficiency and effectiveness of operations, and safeguarding of assets. It is
tasked to discuss with management EW’s major risk exposures and ensures accountability on
the part of management to monitor and control such exposures including EW’s risk
assessment and risk management policies.  The Audit Com oversees the internal audit function
and is responsible for monitoring and reviewing its effectiveness while ensuring its
independence.
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h. Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee (CGCC)
The CGCC leads EW in defining corporate governance policies and attaining best practices
while overseeing the implementation of the EW’s compliance program, money laundering
prevention program and ensuring that regulatory compliance issues are resolved expeditiously.
In addition to its governance role, the CGCC also assumes the nomination function whereby it
reviews and evaluates the qualifications of all persons nominated to the BOD, all direct
reports of the President and Chief Executive Officer, regardless of rank, heads of Governance
Units and other positions of the Bank requiring appointment by the BOD.  The committee
oversees the annual performance evaluation of the BOD, its committees, and individual
directors and conducts an annual self-evaluation of its performance as prescribed under and in
accordance with the Corporate Governance Manual and the 2009 SEC Code of Corporate
Governance.

i. Related Party Transactions (RPT) Committee
The RPT Committee assists the BOD in ensuring that the transactions with related parties of
EW are handled in a sound and prudent manner, with integrity and in compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations to protect the interest of depositors, creditors and other
stakeholders.  It also ensures that related party transactions are conducted on an arm’s length
basis and that no stakeholder is unduly disadvantaged by such transactions.

j. Asset Impairment Committee (AIC)
AIC is a management level committee that convenes at least 2 times in a year, and shall
officially represent EW’s source of experienced credit judgement insofar as the asset
impairment exercise is concerned. This experienced credit judgment is tapped to provide
guidance under the following, but not limited to, conditions: 1) The result of the calculation is
assessed to be unreasonable that it is considered as not fairly representative of EW’s historical
experience, current, and prospective credit condition or other conditions deemed relevant in
reasonably determining EW’s assets’ recoverable value; 2) There is an adverse change in the
prevailing or foreseen prospective economic condition relative to the embedded presumption
in the existing impairment framework; and 3) The data set in the calculation parameters is not
available or insufficient to complete the calculation.

k. Risk Management Division (RMD)
RMD performs an independent risk governance function within EW. RMD is tasked with
identifying, measuring, controlling and monitoring existing and emerging risks inherent in
EW’s overall portfolio (on- or off-balance sheet).  RMD develops and employs risk
assessment tools to facilitate risk identification, analysis and measurement.  It is responsible
for developing and implementing the framework for policies and practices to assess and
manage enterprise-wide market, credit, operational, and all other risks of EW.

It also develops and endorses risk tolerance limits for BOD approval, as endorsed by the
RMC, and monitors compliance with approved risk tolerance limits.  Finally, it regularly
apprises the BOD, through the RMC, the results of its risk monitoring.

l. Internal Audit Division (IAD)
IAD provides an independent assessment of the adequacy of EW’s internal controls, risk
management, governance framework and execution/operational practices.  Internal audit
activities are conducted in accordance with the International Standards for the Professional
Practice of Internal Auditing (ISPPIA) and the Code of Ethics. IAD has an adopted a risk
assessment methodology, which provides a sound basis in the selection of areas of coverage
and frequency of audit for the preparation of the annual audit plan. IAD employs a risk-based
audit approach that examines both the adequacy of the policies and EW’s compliance with the
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procedures while assuring audit coverage of the areas identified as representing the greatest
current risk. It discusses the results of assessments with management, and reports its findings
and recommendations to the Audit Com. IAD’s activities are suitably designed to provide the
BOD with reasonable assurance that significant financial and operating information is
materially complete, reliable and accurate; internal resources are adequately protected; and
employee performance is in compliance with EW’s policies, standards, procedures and
applicable laws and regulations.

m. Compliance Division
Compliance Division is vested with the responsibility of overseeing the design of EW’s
Compliance Program and coordinating its effective implementation towards the sound
management of Business and Compliance Risks.  Its mandate is to ensure that EW is
compliant with relevant and applicable laws, rules, regulations, codes of conduct and
standards of good practice while avoiding an overly risk-averse environment that inhibits
business growth.  It serves as EW’s central point of contact with banking regulators.

Credit Risk
Credit risk refers to the potential loss of earnings or capital arising from an obligor/s, customer/s
or counterparty’s failure to perform and/or to meet the terms of any contract with EW.  Credit
risks may last for the entire tenor and set at the full amount of a transaction and, in some cases,
may exceed the original principal exposures.  The risk may arise from lending, trade financing,
trading, investments and other activities undertaken by EW.  To identify and assess this risk, EW
has: 1) approval process per borrower or business and/or product segment; 2) structured and
standardized credit rating for corporate, credit cards, auto and mortgage loans, and risk acceptance
criteria for other consumer loans.  For large corporate credit transactions, EW has a
comprehensive procedure for credit evaluation, risk assessment and well-defined concentration
limits, which are established for each type of borrower.  EW’s credit risk is managed at the
portfolio level, which may be on an overall or by product perspective.

Credit Concentration
Excessive concentration of lending plays a significant role in the weakening of asset quality.
EW reduces this risk by diversifying its loan portfolio across various sectors and borrowers.
EW believes that good diversification across economic sectors and geographic areas, among
others, will enable it to ride through business cycles without causing undue harm to its asset
quality.

EW’s loan portfolio is in line with EW’s policy of not having significant concentrations of
exposure to specific industries or group of borrowers.  Management of concentration of risk is by
client/counterparty, by industry sector and by geographical location.  For risk concentration
monitoring purposes, the financial assets are broadly categorized into loans and receivables, loans
and advances to banks, and investment securities.  EW ensures compliance with BSP’s limit on
exposure to any single person or group of connected persons by closely monitoring large
exposures and top 20 borrowers for both single and group accounts.

Aside from ensuring compliance with BSP’s limit on exposures to any single person or group of
connected persons, it is EW’s policy to keep the expected loss (determined based on the credit risk
rating of the account) of large exposure accounts to, at most, 1.5% of their aggregate outstanding
balance.  This is to maintain the quality of EW’s large exposures.  With this, accounts with better
risk grades are given priority in terms of being granted a bigger share in EW’s loan facilities.

Aligned with the Manual of Regulations for Banks definition, EW considers its loan portfolio
concentrated if it has exposures of more than thirty percent (30.0%) to an industry.
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Credit Concentration Profile as of December 31, 2018 and 2017
Credit Risk Exposures
The following table shows EW’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account any
collateral held or other credit enhancements:

Consolidated
2018 2017

Maximum
Exposure to
Credit Risk

Fair Value
of Collateral

Financial
Effect of

Collateral Net Exposure

Maximum
Exposure to
Credit Risk

Fair Value
of Collateral

Financial
Effect of

Collateral Net Exposure
(In Millions)

Loans and receivables:
 Receivables from

customers
  Corporate lending P=72,849 P=24,959 P=8,173 P=64,676 P=60,843 P=20,940 P=7,977 P=52,866
  Consumer lending 166,939 95,420 70,161 96,778 149,634 81,630 53,935 95,699

P=239,788 P=120,379 P=78,334 P=161,454 P=210,477 P=102,570 P=61,912 P=148,565

For off-balance sheet items, the figures presented below as reported to BSP summarize EW’s
maximum exposure to credit risk:

2018 2017
Notional

Principal
Amount

Credit
Conversion

Factor

Credit
Equivalent

Amount

Credit
Risk

Mitigation

Net
Credit

Exposure

Notional
Principal
Amount

Credit
Conversion

Factor

Credit
Equivalent

Amount

Credit
Risk

Mitigation

Net
Credit

Exposure
(In Millions)

Off-balance sheet items
 Direct credit substitutes P=762 100% P=762 P=− P=762 P=529 100.00% P=529 – P=529
 Transaction-related contingencies 2,075 50% 1,038 − 1,038 1,644 50.00% 822 − 822
 Trade-related contingencies arising

from movement of goods and
commitments with an original
maturity of up to one (1) year
Guarantees 4,010 20% 801 − 801 2,521 20.00% 504 − 504
Letters of credit 2,249 20% 450 − 450 2,927 20.00% 586 − 586

P=9,096 P=3,051 P=− P=3,051 P=7,621 P=2,441 P=− P=2,441

Large Exposures and Top 20 Borrowers
The table below summarizes the top 20 borrowers and large exposures of EW:

2018
Top 20 Borrowers Large Exposures

Single
Borrowers

Group
Borrowers

Single
Borrowers

Group
Borrowers

Aggregate Exposure (In Billions)  P=30.83  P=36.07 P=17.99  P=25.07
Composite Risk Rating 2.92 3.19 1.93  2.64
Total Expected Loss/Aggregate Exposure 0.97% 1.08% 0.29% 0.84%

2017
Top 20 Borrowers Large Exposures

Single
Borrowers

Group
Borrowers

Single
Borrowers

Group
Borrowers

Aggregate Exposure (In Billions) P=26.27 P=30.90 P=13.65 P=17.48
Composite Risk Rating 3.17 3.42 1.91 2.58
Total Credit Loss/Aggregate Exposure 1.05% 1.19% 0.32% 0.88%

The credit exposures, after due consideration of the allowed credit enhancements of EW, are all
compliant with the regulatory single borrower’s limit and considered to be the maximum credit
exposure to any client or counterparty.
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Concentration by Industry
An industry sector analysis of the financial assets of EW follows:

2018

Loans and
Receivables*

Loans and
Advances to

Banks**
Investment

Securities*** Total
(In Millions)

Financial intermediaries P=9,123 P=56,819 P=422 P=66,364
Government and foreign sovereign − − 27,292 27,292
Real estate, renting and business activity 25,621 − − 25,621
Private households with employed persons 149,909 − − 149,909
Wholesale and retail trade, repair of motor

vehicles
23,879 − − 23,879

Manufacturing 9,065 − − 9,065
Agriculture, fisheries and forestry 1,040 − − 1,040
Electricity, gas, steam and air-conditioning

supply
8,290 − 8,453 16,742

Construction 2,790 − − 2,790
Accommodation and food service activities 2,837 − − 2,837
Administrative and support service activities 1,059 − − 1,059
Other service activities 1,981 − 18 2,000
Holding − 1,978 1,978
Others**** 6,083 − 526 6,609

241,677 56,819 38,689 337,185
Allowance for credit losses (Note 7) (7,292) – (3) (7,295)

P=234,385 P=56,819 P=38,686 P=329,890
* Excludes unamortized premium but includes commitments and contingent accounts.
**  Comprised of Due from BSP, Due from other banks and IBLR.
*** Comprised of Financial assets at FVTPL, Financial assets at FVTOCI and Investment securities at amortized cost.
**** Pertains to unclassified loans and receivables, commitments and contingent accounts.

2017

Loans and
Receivables*

Loans and
Advances to

Banks**
Investment

Securities*** Total
(In Millions)

Financial intermediaries P=9,068 P=61,072 P=744 P=70,884
Government and foreign sovereign − − 8,115 8,115
Real estate, renting and business activity  19,158 −  −  19,158
Private households with employed persons 138,409 − − 138,409
Wholesale and retail trade, repair of motor

vehicles  20,089 − −  20,089
Manufacturing 5,595 − − 5,595
Agriculture, fisheries and forestry 1,244 − − 1,244
Electricity, gas, steam and air-conditioning

supply 8,676 − 2,419 11,095
Construction 2,514 − − 2,514
Accommodation and food service activities  1,987 − −  1,987
Administrative and support service activities 1,460 − − 1,460
Other service activities 3,789 − 18 3,807
Holding − − 1,989 1,989
Others**** 5,577 − 500 6,077

217,566 61,072 13,785 292,423
Allowance for credit losses (Note 7)  (6,334) − −  (6,334)

P=211,232 P=61,072 P=13,785 P=286,089
* Excludes unamortized premium but includes commitments and contingent accounts.
**  Comprised of Due from BSP, Due from other banks and IBLR.
*** Comprised of Financial assets at FVTPL, Financial assets at FVTOCI and Investment securities at amortized cost.
**** Pertains to unclassified loans and receivables, commitments and contingent accounts.

Collateral and Other Credit Enhancements
Collaterals are taken into consideration during the loan application process as they offer an
alternative way of collecting from the client should a default occur.  The percentage of loan value
attached to the collateral offered is part of EW’s lending guidelines.  Such percentages take into
account safety margins for foreign exchange rate exposure/fluctuations, interest rate exposure, and
price volatility.



- 141 -

*SGVFS033664*

Collaterals are valued according to existing credit policy standards and, following the latest
appraisal report, serve as the basis for the amount of the secured loan facility.

Premium security items are collaterals that have the effect of reducing the estimated credit risk for
a facility.  The primary consideration for enhancements falling under such category is the ease of
converting them to cash.

EW is not permitted to sell or re-pledge the collateral in the absence of default by the owner of the
collateral.  It is EW’s policy to dispose foreclosed assets in an orderly fashion.  The proceeds of
the sale of the foreclosed assets, included under Investment properties, are used to reduce or repay
the outstanding claim.  In general, EW does not occupy repossessed properties for business use.

As part of the EW’s risk control on security/collateral documentation, standard documents are
made for each security type and deviation from the pro-forma documents are subject to legal
review prior to implementation.

Credit Collaterals Profile
The table below provides the collateral profile of the outstanding loan portfolio of EW:

Security Corporate Loans Consumer Loans
2018 2017 2018 2017

Real Estate Mortgage (REM) 11.55% 11.68% 10.83% 10.66%
Other Collateral* 23.14% 22.55% 46.88% 42.98%
Unsecured 65.30% 65.77% 42.29% 46.36%
* Consists of government securities, corporate bonds, shares of stock, hold-out on deposits, assignment of vehicles, assignment of

receivables etc.

As for the computation of credit risk weights, hold-out on deposits with EW, HGC cover, and
Philippine sovereign guarantees are the only credit risk mitigants considered as eligible.

Internal Credit Risk Rating System
EW employs a credit scoring system for all corporate borrowers to assess risks relating to the
borrower and the loan exposure.  Borrower risk is evaluated by considering (a) quantitative factors
such as financial condition and (b) qualitative factors, such as management quality and industry
outlook.

Applicable Beginning January 1, 2018
The new rating system assesses default risk based on financial profile, management capacity,
industry performance, and other factors deemed relevant. Credit rating that exceeds the defined
threshold, thus signaling significant risk, among other account-level profile and performance
factors, define whether the accounts are classified in either Stage 1, Stage 2, or Stage 3 per PFRS 9
loan impairment standards.

The credit rating for each borrower is reviewed annually.  A more frequent review is warranted in
cases where the borrower has a higher risk profile or when there are extraordinary or adverse
developments affecting the borrower, the industry and/or the Philippine Economy.

The consumer loan portfolio of EW is composed of the following product lines: credit cards, auto,
mortgage, salary, personal and branch loans.  Each of these products has established credit risk
guidelines and systems for managing credit risk across all business. For credit cards, auto and
mortgage loans, application and behavioral scoring models are in place that primarily consider
demographic variables and payment behavior, respectively, for the assessment of the likelihood of
default by the borrower. For the other consumer loans, minimum risk acceptance criteria was set
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for each portfolio according to the nature of the product and the target market, and is used for the
evaluation of the credit quality of borrowers at origination.

For purposes of comparison of different exposure types, the credit portfolios of EW are
benchmarked against marketable corporate debt securities (using the S&P global study on
corporate exposures) based on credit risk rating and corresponding PDs.

EW assigns credit risk using the following credit score masterscale:

Credit quality Description Credit rating
Investment Grade These accounts are of the highest quality and are

likely to meet financial obligations.
AAA to AA+
AA
AA-
A+
A
A-
BBB+
BBB

Standard Grade These accounts may be vulnerable to adverse
business, financial and economic conditions but
are expected to meet financial obligations.

BBB-
BB+
BB
BB-
B+
B
B-

Substandard Grade These accounts are vulnerable to non-payment but
for which default has not yet occurred.

CCC+ to C-

Non-Performing These refer to accounts which are in default or
those that demonstrate objective evidence of
impairment.

Default

Applicable Prior to January 1, 2018
Financial condition assessment focuses on profitability, liquidity, working capital management,
and leverage. Management quality determination is based on the borrower’s strategies,
management competence and skills and management of banking relationship while industry
outlook is evaluated based on its importance to the economy, growth, industry structure and
relevant government policies. Based on these factors, each borrower is assigned a Borrower Risk
Rating (BRR) that ranges from 1 to 6.  A borrower may be downgraded when it exhibits the
characteristics of a classified account described below, in which case it will be assigned a risk
rating ranging from 7 to 10.

Consideration is also given to security arrangements in computing for the final BRR. Depending
on certain requisites, an account secured by real estate mortgages and hold-out on deposits or
guarantees may be upgraded to better risk classifications.

The BRR for each borrower is reviewed annually.  A more frequent review is warranted in cases
where the borrower has a higher risk profile or when there are extraordinary or adverse
developments affecting the borrower, the industry and/or the Philippine economy.
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The following is a brief explanation of the EW’s risk grades:

Rating Description Account/Borrower Characteristics
1 Excellent ∂ low probability of going into default within the coming year; very high debt service

capacity and balance sheets show no sign of any weakness
∂ has ready access to adequate funding sources
∂ high degree of stability, substance and diversity
∂ of the highest quality under virtual economic conditions

2 Strong ∂ low probability of going into default in the coming year
∂ access to money markets is relatively good
∂ business remains viable under normal market conditions
∂ strong market position with a history of successful financial performance
∂ financials show adequate cash flows for debt servicing and generally conservative

balance sheets
3 Good ∂ sound but may be susceptible, to a limited extent, to cyclical changes in the

markets in which they operate
∂ financial performance is good and capacity to service debt remains comfortable
∂ cash flows remain healthy and critical balance sheet ratios are at par with industry

norms
∂ reported profits in the past 3 years and expected to sustain profitability in the

coming year
4 Satisfactory ∂ clear risk elements exist and probability of going into default is somewhat greater,

as reflected in the volatility of earnings and overall performance
∂ normally have limited access to public financial markets
∂ able to withstand normal business cycles, but expected to deteriorate beyond

acceptable levels under prolonged unfavorable economic period
∂ combination of reasonably sound asset and cash flow protection

5 Acceptable ∂ risk elements EW are sufficiently pronounced, but would still be able to withstand
normal business cycles

∂ immediate deterioration beyond acceptable levels is expected given prolonged
unfavorable economic period

∂ there is sufficient cash flow either historically or expected in the future in spite of
economic downturn combined with asset protection

5B Acceptable ∂ financial condition hard to ascertain due to weak validation of financial statements
coupled by funding leakages to other business interests whose financial condition is
generally unknown

∂ continuous decline in revenues and margins due to competition; increasing debt
levels not commensurate to growth in revenues and funding requirements

∂ thin margin business with banks financing bulk of working capital and capex
requirements coupled by substantial dividend pay-outs

∂ chronically tight cash flows with operating income negative or barely enough for
debt servicing

∂ lines with banks maxed out and availments evergreen with minimal payments made
over time or with past record of past due loans with other banks, cancelled credit
cards and court cases

6 Watchlist ∂ affected by unfavorable industry or company-specific risk factors
∂ operating performance and financial strength may be marginal and ability to attract

alternative sources of finance is uncertain
∂ difficulty in coping with any significant economic downturn; some payment

defaults encountered
∂ net losses for at least 2 consecutive years

7 Special Mention ∂ ability or willingness to service debt are in doubt
∂ weakened creditworthiness
∂ expected to experience financial difficulties, putting EW’s exposure at risk

8 Substandard ∂ collectability of principal or interest becomes questionable by reason of adverse
developments or important weaknesses in financial cover

∂ negative cash flows from operations and negative interest coverage
∂ past due for more than 90 days
∂ there exists the possibility of future loss to EW unless given closer supervision
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Rating Description Account/Borrower Characteristics
9 Doubtful ∂ unable or unwilling to service debt over an extended period of time and near future

prospects of orderly debt service are doubtful
∂ with non-performing loan (NPL) status
∂ previously rated ‘Substandard’ by the BSP
∂ loss on credit exposure unavoidable

10 Loss ∂ totally uncollectible
∂ prospect of re-establishment of creditworthiness and debt service is remote
∂ lender shall take or has taken title to the assets and is preparing foreclosure and/or

liquidation although partial recovery may be obtained in the future
∂ considered uncollectible or worthless and of such little value that continuance as

bankable assets is not warranted although the loans may have some recovery or
salvage value

It is EW’s policy to maintain accurate and consistent risk ratings across the credit portfolio.  This
facilitates a focused management of the applicable risk and the comparison of credit exposures
across all lines of business, geographic regions and products.  The rating system is supported by a
variety of financial analytics, combined with processed market information to provide the main
inputs for the measurement of counterparty risk.  All internal risk ratings are tailored to the various
categories and are derived in accordance with EW’s rating policy.  The risk ratings are assessed
and updated regularly.

Credit Quality Profile as of December 31, 2018 and 2017
External Ratings
EW also uses external ratings, such as Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s, and Fitch, to evaluate its
counterparties and in its assignment of credit risk weights to its banking book exposures.
Transactions falling under this category are normally of the following nature: placements with
other banks, money market lending, debt security investments, and to some extent, equity security
investments.

Credit Rating Grades of Gross Carrying Amounts of Financial Assets – Applicable beginning
January 1, 2018

The table below shows the breakdown of the EW’s exposure on receivable from customers and
investments and placements as of December 31, 2018 (amounts in thousands):

Receivables from customers
Corporate Loans P=72,848,679
Consumer Loans* 166,939,045

Other receivables** 6,428,544
Total loans and receivables P=246,216,268

Investments and Placements*** P=97,678,506
*Consumer loans include auto loans, credit card (i.e. personal loans, DepEd loans, salary loans, branch loans
and emerging enterprise loans) receivables, mortgage loans and other receivables from customers
**Other receivables include accounts receivable, accrued interest receivable, unquoted debt securities classified
as loans, and sales contract receivables.
***Investments and Placements include financial assets at FVTPL, FVTOCI, investment securities at amortized
cost, interbank loans, due from other banks and due from BSP.
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The credit quality of EW’s receivables from customers as of December 31, 2018 follow:

Gross Carrying Amount
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

 (In Thousands)
Corporate loans

Investment Grade  P=43,913,770  P=2,331,906  P=–  P=46,245,676
Standard Grade  560,682  25,393,949 – 25,954,631
Substandard Grade – – – –
Non-Performing – – 648,372 648,372

 44,474,452 27,725,855 648,372 72,848,679
Auto loans

Investment Grade 6,764,232  455,452 – 7,219,684
Standard Grade  48,226,122  14,622,501 –  62,848,623
Substandard Grade  1,117,363  4,103,997 –  5,221,360
Non-Performing – –  4,055,589  4,055,589

 56,107,717  19,181,950  4,055,589  79,345,256
Credit cards

Investment Grade 346,910 – – 346,910
Standard Grade  19,527,811  4,669,074 –  24,196,885
Substandard Grade  670,346  4,471,702 –  5,142,048
Non-Performing – –  1,637,053  1,637,053

 20,545,067  9,140,776  1,637,053  31,322,896
Mortgage loans

Investment Grade – – – –
Standard Grade  16,063,945  2,683,690 – 18,747,635
Substandard Grade  9,679  875,847 – 885,526
Non-Performing – –  805,285 805,285

 16,073,624  3,559,537  805,285  20,438,446
Other consumer loans

Investment Grade  1,520,575  97,663 –  1,618,238
Standard Grade  26,732,294 4,869,171 – 31,601,465
Substandard Grade  383,492 2,016,590 – 2,400,082
Non-Performing – – 212,662 212,662

 28,636,361 6,983,424 212,662  35,832,447
Total  P=165,837,221  P=66,591,542  P=7,358,961  P=239,787,724

The credit quality of EW’s financial assets other than loans and receivables as of December 31,
2018 follow:

Gross Carrying Amount
Credit Score Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

(In Thousands)
Due from BSP

Investment Grade P=40,481,956 P=– P=– P=40,481,956
40,481,956 – – 40,481,956

Due from other banks
Investment Grade 10,118,636 – – 10,118,636
Standard Grade 78,635 36,167 – 114,802

10,197,271 36,167 10,233,438
IBLR

Investment Grade 5,862,670 – – 5,862,670
5,862,670 – – 5,862,670

Financial assets at FVTPL
Investment Grade 4,338,794 – – 4,338,794

4,338,794 – – 4,338,794
(Forward)
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Gross Carrying Amount
Credit Score Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

(In Thousands)
Financial assets at FVTOCI

Investment Grade P=248,207 P=– P=– P=248,207
248,207 – – 248,207

Investment securities
at amortized cost

Investment Grade 4,161,409 440,970 – 4,602,379
Standard Grade 31,911,062 – – 31,911,062

36,072,471 440,970 – 36,513,441
Total P=97,201,369 P=477,137 P=– P=97,678,506

Analysis of Movements of Gross Carrying Amounts
The movements in the EW’s total loans and receivables (excluding unamortized premium and
allowance for credit and impairment losses) in 2018 follow:

2018
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

(In Thousands)
Balance at beginning of year  P=151,206,254 P=60,699,679 P=7,743,835 P=219,649,768
Newly originated assets that remained in Stage

1 as at December 31, 2018  75,765,268 – –  75,765,268
Newly originated assets that moved to Stage 2

and Stage 3 as at December 31, 2018 –  3,994,602 326,656  4,321,258
Movements in receivable balance  (37,132,913)  (33,174,071) 19,019,024          (51,287,960)
Write-offs (Note 15) – – (3,160,844) (3,160,844)
Transfers from Stage 1  (4,477,016)  4,096,989 380,027 –
Transfers from Stage 2  (17,108,206)  29,442,711  (12,334,505) –
Transfers from Stage 3  1,326,262  3,015,517  (4,341,779) –
Others – – 928,778 928,778
Balance at end of year P=169,579,649 P=68,075,427 P=8,561,192  P=246,216,268

The breakdown of the total gross carrying amounts of the EW is as follows:

Gross Carrying Amount
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

(In Thousands)
Corporate loans
Balance at beginning of year  P=43,454,532  P=14,856,115  P=3,140,989  P=61,451,636
Newly originated assets that remained in Stage

1 as at December 31, 2018  23,017,858 – –  23,017,858
Newly originated assets that moved to Stage 2

and Stage 3 as at December 31, 2018 – 3,275,016 692,428 3,967,444
Movements in receivable balance (43,370,031) 31,283,217 (3,501,445) (15,588,259)
Write-offs – – – –
Transfers from Stage 1 (376,454) 335,898 40,556 –
Transfers from Stage 2 21,748,547 (22,024,391) 275,844 –

 44,474,452  27,725,855  648,372  72,848,679

(Forward)
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Gross Carrying Amount
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

(In Thousands)
Auto loans
Balance at beginning of year  P=52,033,588 P=10,967,068 P=3,931,179  P=66,931,836
Newly originated assets that remained in Stage

1 as at December 31, 2018  25,070,569 – –  25,070,569
Newly originated assets that moved to Stage 2

and Stage 3 as at December 31, 2018 –  3,994,601  326,656  4,321,257
Movements in receivable balance  (12,006,005)  (4,104,580)  (867,820)  (16,978,405)
Write-offs – – (222,994) (222,994)
Transfers from Stage 1  (100,717)  92,168  8,549 –
Transfers from Stage 2  66,041  (113,654)  47,614 –
Transfers from Stage 3  8,204  18,653  (26,857) –

 65,071,680  10,854,256  3,196,327  79,122,263
Credit cards
Balance at beginning of year 20,085,433 6,866,752 1,451,819 28,404,005
Newly originated assets that remained in Stage

1 as at December 31, 2018 2,128,904 – – 2,128,904
Newly originated assets that moved to Stage 2

and Stage 3 as at December 31, 2018 – 5,019,119 1,061,179 6,080,298
Movements in receivable balance (2,015,607) (2,279,248) (995,456) (5,290,311)
Write-offs – –  (2,705,749)  (2,705,749)
Transfers from Stage 1 (93,578) 68,481 25,097 –
Transfers from Stage 2 361,103 (541,730) 180,627 –
Transfers from Stage 3 78,811 7,402 (86,213) –

20,545,067 9,140,776 1,637,053 31,322,896
Mortgage loans
Balance at beginning of year 14,575,769 3,227,834 730,243 18,533,846
Newly originated assets that remained in Stage

1 as at December 31, 2018 1,389,128 – –  1,389,128
Newly originated assets that moved to Stage 2

and Stage 3 as at December 31, 2018 –  3,275,016  692,428  3,967,444
Movements in receivable balance (5,559,403) 1,587,167 520,264 (3,451,971)
Transfers from Stage 1 (932,700) 762,733 169,967 –
Transfers from Stage 2 5,185,700 (6,465,695) 1,279,995 –
Transfers from Stage 3 1,415,131 1,172,481 (2,587,613) –

 16,073,624  3,559,537  805,285  20,438,446
Other receivables*
Balance at beginning of year 21,056,932 24,781,910 (1,510,395) 44,328,447
Newly originated assets that remained in Stage

1 as at December 31, 2018 24,158,810 – –  24,158,810
Newly originated assets that moved to Stage 2

and Stage 3 as at December 31, 2018 –  (11,569,151) (5,151,784) (16,720,935)
Movements in receivable balance 25,818,131 (59,660,628) 23,863,482 (9,979,015)
Write-offs – –  (232,101) (232,101)
Transfers from Stage 1  (2,973,566)  2,837,709  135,857 –
Transfers from Stage 2  (44,469,597)  58,588,182  (14,118,585) –
Transfers from Stage 3  (175,884)  1,816,981  (1,641,097) –
Others – – 928,778 928,778

23,414,826 16,795,003 2,274,155 42,483,984
Total  P=169,579,649  P=68,075,426  P=8,561,192  P=246,216,268
*Other receivables include other receivable from customers (i.e. personal loans, DepEd loans, salary loans, branch loans and emerging
enterprise loans) and accounts receivable, accrued interest receivable, unquoted debt securities classified as loans, and sales contract
receivables.
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Investments and Financial Securities – Applicable Prior to January 1, 2018

The table below shows the credit quality, based on external ratings, per class of the EW’s financial
assets other than loans and receivables that are neither past due nor impaired (amounts in
millions):

2017
At Least

Investment Grade*
Below Investment

Grade** Unrated Total
Due from BSP P=39,321 P=– P=–  P=39,321
Due from other banks 9,273 69 21  9,363
IBLR 12,388 – –  12,388
Financial assets at FVTPL:
 Government securities 4,036 – –  4,036
 Private bonds 2,821 446 –  3,267
 Equity securities – – 10 10

6,857 446  10  7,313
Investment securities at amortized cost:
 Government securities 5,246 – –  5,246
 Private bonds 1,226 – –  1,226

6,472 – –  6,472
P=74,311  P=515  P=31  P=74,857

* Rated AA to BBB
** Rated BB to B only and does not include junk bonds (i.e., rated CCC and below)

The tables below show the credit quality, based on the credit rating system, by class of loans and
receivables that are neither past due nor impaired (i.e., non-performing or past due by more than
90 days) of the EW (amounts in millions):

2017

High Grade
Standard

Grade
Substandard

Grade Unrated Total
Receivables from customers:
 Corporate lending  P=21,969  P=39,141 P=–  P=–  P=61,110
 Consumer lending 34,009 83,846 29,491 – 147,346

55,978 122,987 29,491 – 208,456
Unquoted debt securities – – –  324 324
Accounts receivable – – – 468 468
Accrued interest receivable  299  445  363 877 1,984
Sales contract receivable – – –  147  147

 299  445  363  1,816  2,923
  P=56,277  P=123,432 P=29,854  P=1,816   P=211,379

Borrowers with unquestionable repaying capacity and to whom EW is prepared to lend on an
unsecured basis, either partially or totally, are generally rated as High Grade borrowers.  Included
in the High-Grade category are those accounts that fall under ‘Excellent’, ‘Strong’, ‘Good’ and
‘Satisfactory’ categories under ICRRS (with rating of 1-4).

Standard rated borrowers normally require tangible collateral, such as real estate mortgage (REM),
to either fully or partially secure the credit facilities as such accounts indicate a relatively higher
credit risk than those considered as High Grade.  Included in Standard Grade category are those
accounts that fall under ‘Acceptable’ and ‘Watchlist’ categories under ICRRS (with rating of 5-6).
Substandard Grade accounts pertain to unsecured revolving credit facilities.
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Those accounts that are classified as unrated include unquoted debt securities, accounts receivable,
accrued interest receivable and sales contract receivable for which EW has not yet established a
credit rating system.

Impairment Assessment – Applicable prior to January 1, 2018
On a regular basis, the Group conducts an impairment assessment exercise to determine credit
losses on its loans portfolio.

The main considerations for the loan impairment assessment include whether any payments of
principal or interest are overdue by more than 30 to 90 days as applicable, or if there are any
known difficulties in the cash flows of counterparties, credit rating downgrades, or infringement of
the original terms of the contract.  EW addresses impairment assessment in two areas: specific or
individually assessed allowances and collectively assessed allowances.

a. Specific Impairment Testing
Specific impairment testing is the process whereby classified accounts, that are individually
significant,  are  subject  to  impairment  testing.   Classified accounts  are  past  due accounts  and
accounts whose credit standing and/or collateral has weakened due to varying circumstances.
This present status of the account may adversely affect the collection of both principal and
interest payments.

The net recoverable amount is computed using the present value approach.  The discount rate
used for loans with fixed and floating interest rate is the original effective interest rate and last
repriced  interest  rate,  respectively.   Net  recoverable  amount  is  the  total  cash  inflows  to  be
collected  over  the  remaining  term  of  the  loan  or  the  expected  proceeds  from  the  sale  of
collateral.  Specific impairment testing parameters include the account information (original and
outstanding loan amount), interest rate (nominal and original effective interest rate) and the
business plan.  Also included are the expected date of recovery, expected cash flows, probability
of collection, and the carrying value of loan and net recoverable amount.

The Group conducts specific impairment testing on classified (i.e. rated 7-10) and restructured
corporate accounts.  Indicators of credit quality deterioration that merit specific impairment
testing include past due status of the accounts, decline in credit rating from independent rating
agencies for investment securities and recurring net losses.

b. Collective Impairment Testing
All other accounts which were not individually assessed are grouped based on similar credit
characteristics and are collectively assessed for impairment.  This is also in accordance with
PAS 39, which provides that all loan accounts not included in the specific impairment test
shall be subjected to collective impairment testing.

Collective impairment testing of corporate accounts
Corporate accounts, which are unclassified and with current status are grouped in accordance
with the EW’s internal credit risk rating.  Each internal credit risk rating would fetch an
equivalent loss impairment where the estimated loss is determined in consideration of EW’s
historical loss experience.  Impairment loss is derived by multiplying the outstanding loan
balance on a per internal credit risk rating basis against a factor rate.  The factor rate, which
estimates the expected loss from the credit exposure, is the product of the Default Rate (DR)
and the Loss Given Default Rate (LGDR).  DR is estimated based on the
3-year historical average default experience by internal credit risk rating of EW, while, LGDR
is estimated based on loss experience (net of recoveries from collateral) for the same reference
period.
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Collective impairment testing of consumer accounts
Consumer accounts, both in current and past due status are collectively tested for impairment
as required under PAS 39.  Accounts are grouped by type of product - personal loans, salary
loans, housing loans, auto loans and credit cards.

The estimation of the impaired consumer products’ estimated loss is based on three major
concepts: age buckets, probability of default and recoverability.  Per product, exposures are
categorized per their state of delinquency - (1) current; (2) past due (which is subdivided into
30, 60, 90, 120, 150, 180 and more than 180 days past due); and (3) items in litigation (ITL).
Auto, housing and salary loans have an additional bucket for its items in litigation accounts.
The Group partitions its exposures as it recognizes that the age buckets have different rates
and/ or probabilities of default.  The initial estimates of losses per product due to default are
then adjusted based on the recoverability of cash flows, to calculate the credit loss of the
Group.  Auto and housing loans consider the proceeds from the eventual sale of foreclosed
collaterals in approximating its recovery rate; while credit cards, salary loans and personal
loans depend on the collection experience of its receivables.  Further, for housing loans, due to
the nature of the assets offered as security, and as the exposures are limited to a certain
percentage of the same, this product possesses the unique quality of obtaining over 95%
recoverability.  These default and recovery rates are based on the Group’s historical
experience, which covers a minimum of two to three (2-3) years cycle, depending on the
availability and relevance of data.

Aging Analysis of Past Due But Not Impaired Loans – Applicable prior to January 1, 2018
The table below shows the aging analysis of the past due but not impaired loans and receivables
per class of EW.  Under PFRS 7, a financial asset is past due when a counterparty has failed to
make payments when contractually due (amounts in millions):

Consolidated
2017

Less than
30 days

31 to
60 days

61 to
90 days

91 to
180 days

More than
180 days Total

Loans and receivables:
Corporate lending P=– P=–  P=3 P=– P=–   P=3
Consumer lending 777 2,307 2,803 191  321 6,399

 P=777  P=2,307  P=2,806  P=191  P=321  P=6,402

Collaterals of past due but not impaired loans mostly consist of real estate mortgage (REM) of
industrial, commercial, residential and developed agricultural real estate properties.
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Credit risk weighting as of December 31, 2018 and 2017

Total Credit Risk Exposure after Risk Mitigation
The table below shows the different credit risk exposures of EW after credit risk mitigation, by risk
weight applied in accordance with BSP Circular No. 538 (amounts in millions):

Consolidated
2018

Capital
Deduction

Risk Buckets
Total0% 20% 50% 75% 100% 150%

Credit risk exposure after risk
mitigation

On-balance sheet assets P=10,081 P=54,696 P=13,561 P=32,979 P=12,814 P=216,588 P=8,696 P=339,334
Off-balance sheet assets – – – – – – – –
Counterparty in the banking book

(derivatives and repo-style
transactions) – – – – – – – –

Counterparty in the trading book
(derivatives and repo-style
transactions) – – – – – – – –

Credit-linked notes in the banking
book – – – – – – – –

Securitization exposures – – – – – – – –
10,081 54,696 13,561 32,979 12,814 216,588 8,696 339,334

Credit Risk Weighted Assets P=– P=– P=2,712 P=16,490 P=9,611 P=216,588 P=13,044 P=258,445

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that sufficient funds are unavailable to adequately meet all maturing
liabilities, including demand deposits and off-balance sheet commitments.  The main
responsibility of daily asset liability management lies with EW’s Treasury Group, specifically the
Liquidity Desk, which are tasked to manage the balance sheet and have thorough understanding of
the risk elements involved in the respective businesses.  Only EW and EWRB are potentially
exposed to liquidity risk exposures, where their liquidity risk management are monitored by their
respective ALCOs.  Resulting analysis of the balance sheet along with the recommendation is
presented during the weekly ALCO meeting where deliberations, formulation of actions and
decisions are made to minimize risk and maximize EW returns.  Discussions include actions taken
in the previous ALCO meeting, economic and market status and outlook, liquidity risk, pricing
and interest rate structure, limit status and utilization.  To ensure both EW and EWRB have
sufficient liquidity at all times, the respective ALCO formulates a contingency funding plan which
sets out the amount and the sources of funds (such as unutilized credit facilities) available to both
entities and the circumstances under which such funds will be used.

By way of the Maximum Cumulative Outflow (MCO) limit, EW is able to manage its long-term
liquidity risks by placing a cap on the outflow of cash on a cumulative basis.  EW takes a multi-
tiered approach to maintaining liquid assets.  EW’s principal source of liquidity is comprised of
cash and other cash items (COCI), due from BSP, due from other banks and IBLR with maturities
of less than one year.  In addition to regulatory reserves, EW maintains a sufficient level of

2017
Capital

Deduction
Risk Buckets

Total0% 20% 50% 75% 100% 150%
Credit risk exposure after risk

mitigation
On-balance sheet assets P=9,875 P=49,418 P=13,442 P=14,938 P=10,428 P=188,219 P=6,173 P=282,618
Off-balance sheet assets – – – – – 2,440 – 2,440
Counterparty in the banking book

(derivatives and repo-style
transactions) – – – – – – – –

Counterparty in the trading book
(derivatives and repo-style
transactions) – – – – – – – –

Credit-linked notes in the banking
book – – – – – – – –

Securitization exposures – – – – – – – –
9,875 49,418 13,442 14,938 10,428 190,659 6,173 285,058

Credit Risk Weighted Assets P=– P=– P=2,688 P=7,469 P=7,821 P=190,659 P=9,259 P=217,896
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secondary reserves in the form of liquid assets such as short-term trading and investment securities
that can be realized quickly.

Analysis of Financial Assets and Liabilities by Remaining Contractual Maturities
The table below shows the maturity profile of the financial assets and liabilities of EW, based on
its internal methodology that manages liquidity based on combined behavioral assumptions and
contractual undiscounted cash flows:

2018

On demand
Up to

1 month
>1 to 3

months
>3 to 6

months
>6 to 12
months

Beyond 1
year Total

(In Millions)
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents* P=63,925 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=63,925
Investments and trading

securities** – 4,297 – 848 205 55,363 60,713
Loans and receivables*** – 28,139 26,089 24,860 31,102 169,309 279,499
Other assets – 8 – – – 77 85

P=63,925 P=32,444 P=26,089 P=25,708 P=31,307 P=224,749 P=404,222

Financial Liabilities
Deposit liabilities**** P=– P=25,628 P=9,973 P=4,932 P=2,595 P=292,341 P=335,469
Bills and acceptances payable 896 18,186 33 9 600 615 20,339
Subordinated debt – – – – – 6,239 6,239
Other liabilities 173 706 – – 4,769 – 5,648
Contingent liabilities***** – 1,794 – – – – 1,794

P=1,069 P=46,314 P=10,006 P=4,941 P=7,964 P=299,195 P=369,489
*         Consist of cash and cash other items, due from BSP, due from other banks and IBLR
*** Consist of financial assets at FVTPL, investment securities at amortized cost, financial assets at FVTOCI and interest receivables from investment

securities at amortized cost.
***     Consist of loans and receivables, sales contract receivables, bills purchased, accrued interest receivables, accounts receivables, and unearned

discounts classified as financial assets.
****   Consist of demand and savings deposit, time certificate of deposit, long term negotiable certificates of deposit and interest payable for these deposit

liabilities.
***** Consists of stand-by letters of credit and interest rate swap receivables.

2017

On demand
Up to

1 month
>1 to 3
months

>3 to 6
months

>6 to 12
months

Beyond 1
year Total

(In Millions)
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents* P=62,053 P=5,742 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=67,795
Investments and trading

securities** – 7,313 – – 333 7,690 15,336
Loans and receivables*** – 24,635 20,177 16,687 24,737 171,729 257,965

P=62,053 P=37,690 P=20,177 P=16,687 P=25,070 P=179,419 P=341,096
Financial Liabilities
Deposit liabilities**** P=– P=24,374 P=7,308 P=6,390 P=967 P=243,145 P=282,184
Bills and acceptances payable – 5,435 – – 748 1,780 7,963
Subordinated debt – – – – – 7,465 7,465
Other liabilities – 477 – – 3,791 1,469 5,737
Contingent liabilities***** – 897 – – 10 27 934

P=– P=31,183 P=7,308 P=6,390 P=5,516 P=253,886 P=304,283
*** Consist of COCI, due from BSP, due from other banks and IBLR
*** Consist of financial assets at FVTPL, investment securities at amortized cost, financial assets at FVTOCI and interest receivables
          from investment securities at amortized cost.
***    Consist of loans and receivables, sales contract receivables, bills purchased, accrued interest receivables, accounts receivables,
          unearned discounts and other assets classified as financial assets.
****  Consist of demand and savings deposit, time certificate of deposit, long term negotiable certificates of deposit and interest

payable for
          these deposit liabilities.
*****Consists of stand-by letters of credit and interest rate swap payables

EW manages liquidity by maintaining sufficient liquid assets in the form of cash and cash
equivalents, investment securities and loan receivables.  As of December 31, 2018, and 2017,
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P=98.0 billion and P=96.3 billion, respectively, or 39.0% and 48.3%, respectively, of EW’s total
gross loans and receivables had remaining maturities of less than one (1) year.  The total portfolio
of trading and investment securities is comprised mostly of sovereign-issued securities that have
high market liquidity. With the above presented liquidity profile, the Group remains to be
inhibited from liquidity risk that it cannot adequately manage.

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate
due to changes in market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices.
EW treats exposures to market risk as either for trading or accrual/balance sheet exposure.  The
market risk for the trading portfolio is measured using Value at Risk (VaR).  Interest rate risk of
accrual portfolios in the Banking Book are measured using Earnings at Risk (EaR).

Market Risk in the Trading Books
The Board has set limits on the level of market risk that may be accepted.  VaR limits are applied
at the instrument level and approved by the BOD based on, among other things, a business unit’s
capacity to manage price risks, the size and distribution of the aggregate exposure to price risks
and the expected return relative to price risks.

EW applies the VaR methodology to assess the market sensitive positions held for trading and to
estimate the potential economic loss based on parameters and assumptions.  VaR is a method used
in measuring market risk by estimating the potential negative change in the market value of a
portfolio at a given confidence level and over a specified time horizon.

Objectives and Limitations of the VaR Methodology
EW uses the VaR model of Bloomberg Portfolio Analytics using one-year historical data set to
assess possible changes in the market value of the Fixed Income, Equities, and Foreign Exchange
trading portfolio.  VaR for the US Treasury Futures is measured using Historical Simulation using
an internally developed Excel spreadsheet.  The IRS and Foreign Exchange (FX) Forwards
(Outright and forward leg of FX Swaps) trading portfolio’s interest rate risk is measured using
Monte Carlo VaR-using OPICS Risk Plus.  The VaR models are designed to measure market risk
in a normal market environment.  The use of VaR has limitations because correlations and
volatilities in market prices are based on historical data and VaR assumes that future price
movements will follow a statistical distribution.

Due to the fact that VaR relies heavily on historical data to provide information and may not
clearly predict the future changes and modifications of the risk factors, the probability of large
market moves may be underestimated.

VaR may also be under or overestimated due to assumptions placed on risk factors and the
relationship between such factors for specific instruments.  Even though positions may change
throughout the day, VaR only represents the risk of the portfolio at the close of each business day,
and it does not account for any losses that may occur beyond the specified confidence level.

In practice, actual trading results will differ from the VaR calculation and the calculation does not
provide a meaningful indication of profits and losses in stressed market conditions.  To determine
the reliability of the VaR model, actual outcomes are monitored through hypothetical and actual
backtesting to test the accuracy of the VaR model.
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Stress testing provides a means of complementing VaR by simulating the potential loss impact on
market risk positions from extreme market conditions, such as risk factor movements based on
historical financial market stress conditions and scenarios adopted from the uniform stress testing
framework of the BSP.

VaR Assumptions
The VaR that EW use is premised on a 99.0% confidence level that this potential loss estimate is
not expected to be exceeded if the current market risk positions were to be held unchanged for a
given holding period.  Foreign exchange and US Treasury Futures, VaR is measured using one (1)
day holding period while fixed income VaR has a holding period of 5 days. Furthermore, EW’s
equity and IRS trading positions are assumed to be closed out in 10 days.  The use of a 99.0%
confidence level means that within the set time horizon, losses exceeding the VaR figure should
occur, on average, not more than once every hundred days.

VaR is an integral part of EW’s market risk management and encompasses investment positions
held for trading.  VaR exposures form part of the market risk monitoring which is reviewed daily
against the limit approved by the Board.   The trading activities are controlled through the Market
Risk Limit (MRL), which is a dynamic risk limit anchored on the principle of risk and return
which is adjusted by net trading gains (added in half) or losses (subtracted in whole). RMD reports
compliance to the MRL and trader’s VaR limits daily.  If the MRL or individual trader’s limit is
exceeded, such occurrence is promptly reported to the Treasurer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief
Risk Officer and the President, and further to the Board through the RMC.

The table below pertains to interest rate risk of EW’s fixed income trading portfolio.

2018 2017
(In Thousands)

Year-end VaR P=72,773 P=65,510
Average VaR 58,052 172,521
Highest VaR 145,351 318,597
Lowest VaR 11,735 53,633

The year-end VaR for 2018 was based on the EW’s fixed income trading book valued at P=4.5
billion with average yields of 6.6% and 4.9% for the Peso and Foreign currency denominated
bonds, respectively.  Its average maturities are 5 years and one (1) month for the Peso portfolio
and 19 years and 2 months for the foreign currency portfolio.

The year-end VaR for 2017 was based on EW’s fixed income trading book valued at P=7.3 billion
with average yields of 4.4% and 3.5% for the Peso and Foreign currency denominated bonds,
respectively.  Its average maturities are four (4) year and nine (9) months for the Peso portfolio and
six (6) years and five (5) months for the foreign currency portfolio.

The market risk in EW’s US Treasury Futures trading positions is shown in the table below:

2018 2017
(In Thousands)

Year-end VaR P=12,890 P=1,726
Average VaR 3,822 11,900
Highest VaR 29,154 63,894
Lowest VaR 731 292
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The market risk in EW’s IRS trading positions is shown in the table below:

2018 2017
(In Thousands)

Year-end VaR P=10,740 P=14,111
Average VaR 14,028 21,465
Highest VaR 16,602 29,674
Lowest VaR 10,529 14,031

EW’s end-2018 and end-2017 IRS positions have a notional amount of USD$20.0 million where it
pays fixed rate and receives floating rate interest.

The interest rate risk in EW’s FX forwards positions is shown in the table below:

2018 2017
(In Thousands)

Year-end VaR P=1,371 P=123
Average VaR 361 340
Highest VaR 2,781 2,373
Lowest VaR 41 3

Foreign Currency Risk
EW holds foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities, thus, fluctuations on the foreign
exchange rate fluctuations can affect the financials and cash flows of EW.  Managing the foreign
exchange exposure is important for banks with exposures in foreign currencies.  This includes
purchase or sell of foreign currency to control the impact of changes in exchange rates on its
financial position.

The table below pertains to foreign exchange risk of EW:

2018 2017
(In Thousands)

Year-end VaR P=4,335 P=2,251
Average VaR 5,574 2,649
Highest VaR 19,359 12,225
Lowest VaR 33 9

EW’s foreign currency exposures emanate from its net open spot and forward FX purchase and
sell transactions, and net foreign currency income accumulated over the years of its operations.
Foreign currency-denominated deposits are generally used to fund EW’s foreign currency-
denominated loan and investment portfolio in the FCDU.  In the FCDU books, BSP requires banks
to match the foreign currency assets with the foreign currency liabilities.  Thus, banks are required
to maintain at all times a 100.0% cover for their currency liabilities held through FCDU.

Total foreign currency position is monitored through the daily BSP FX position reports, which are
subject to the overbought and oversold limits set by the BSP at 20.0% of unimpaired capital or
US$50.0 million, whichever is lower.  Internal limits regarding the intraday trading and end-of-
day trading positions in FX, which consider t the trading desk and the branch FX transactions, are
also monitored.
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The tables below summarize the exposure to foreign currencies of EW as of December 31, 2018
and 2017:

2018

USD SGD JPY HKD
Other

Currencies Total
(In Thousands)

Assets
Gross FX assets $1,063,028 $14,890 $4,626 $518 $16,018 $1,099,080
Contingent FX assets 52,500 – – – 15,948 68,448

1,115,528 14,890 4,626 518 31,966 1,167,528
Liabilities
Gross FX liabilities 1,019,322 16,368 3,431 1,681 34,930 1,075,732
Contingent FX liabilities 95,867 – – – – 95,867

1,115,189 16,368 3,431 1,681 34,930 1,171,599
Net exposure $339 ($1,478) $1,195 ($1,163) ($2,964) ($4,071)

2017

USD EUR SGD
Other

Currencies Total
(In Thousands)

Assets
Gross FX assets $737,597 $25,995 $12,393 $28,538 $804,523
Contingent FX assets 63,988 – – 384 64,372

801,585 25,995 12,393 28,922 868,895
Liabilities
Gross FX liabilities 741,826 – 12,849 45,485 800,160
Contingent FX liabilities 61,384 – – 13,237 74,621

803,210 – 12,849 58,722 874,781
Net exposure ($1,625) $25,995 (456) ($29,800) ($5,886)

EW’s positions in other currencies are not individually significant.

The tables below indicate the sensitivity of the currencies which EW had significant exposures as
of December 31, 2018 and 2017:

Foreign Currency Appreciates 2018
 (Depreciates) USD SGD JPY HKD
+10.00% P=1.79 (P=7.77) P=6.28 (P=6.11)
-10.00% (1.79) 7.77 (6.28) 6.11

Foreign Currency Appreciates 2017
 (Depreciates) USD SGD EUR
+10.00% (P=8.11) (P=9.94) (P=10.87)
-10.00% 8.11 9.94 10.87

The analysis calculates the effect of a reasonably possible movement of the foreign currency rate
against Peso, with all other variables held constant on the statement of income.  A negative
amount reflects a potential net reduction in statement of income while a positive amount reflects a
net potential increase.  There is no other impact on EW’s equity other than those already affecting
the statements of income.
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Market Risk in the Banking Book

Interest Rate Risk
A critical element of risk management program consists of measuring and monitoring the risks
associated with fluctuations in market interest rates on EW’s net interest income.  The short-term
nature of its assets and liabilities reduces the exposure of its net interest income to such risks.

EW employs re-pricing gap analysis on a monthly basis to measure the interest rate sensitivity of
its assets and liabilities.  The re-pricing gap analysis measures, for any given period, any
mismatches between the amounts of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities that
would re-price, or mature (for contracts that do not re-price), during that period.  The re-pricing
gap is calculated by first distributing the assets and liabilities contained in EW’s statement of
financial position into tenor buckets according to the time remaining to the next re-pricing date (or
the time remaining to maturity if there is no re-pricing), and then obtaining the difference between
the total of the re-pricing (interest rate sensitive) assets and re-pricing (interest rate sensitive)
liabilities.  If there is a positive gap, there is asset sensitivity which generally means that an
increase in interest rates would have a positive effect on EW’s net interest income.  If there is a
negative gap, this generally means that an increase in interest rates would have a negative effect
on net interest income.

The following tables provide for the average interest rates by period of re-pricing (or by period of
maturity if there is no re-pricing) of EW as of December 31, 2018 and 2017:

2018
Up to

1 month
>1 month

to 3 months
>3 months

to 6 months
>6 months

to 12 months >12 months
RBU
Financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 2.17% − − − −
Loans and receivables 5.99% 6.58% 7.58% 10.10% 11.96%
Investment securities 4.20% − − − 5.48%

Financial liabilities:
Deposit liabilities 1.73% 4.22% 3.34% 2.30% 3.47%
Bills payable 5.26% − − − −
Subordinated debt − − − − 5.50%

FCDU
Financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 2.20% − − − −
Loans and receivables 3.14% 6.20% 3.14% − 7.25%
Investment securities 6.57% − 7.25% 4.25% 5.48%

Financial liabilities:
Deposit liabilities 1.07% 1.93% 1.51% 1.50% 2.71%
Bills payable 2.80% − − − −

2017
Up to

1 month
>1 month

to 3 months
>3 months

to 6 months
>6 months

to 12 months >12 months

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 1.20% − − − −
Loans and receivables 4.65% 5.16% 6.05% 9.95% 12.10%
Investment securities 4.04% − − − 4.66%

Financial liabilities:
Deposit liabilities 2.17% 2.21% 4.35% 2.72% 3.84%
Bills payable 3.17% − − − −
Subordinated debt − − − − 5.50%

(Forward)
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2018
Up to

1 month
>1 month

to 3 months
>3 months

to 6 months
>6 months

to 12 months >12 months

FCDU
Financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 1.37% − − − −
Loans and receivables 3.01% 2.75% 3.70% 3.93% 7.21%
Investment securities 4.91% − − 5.40% 4.52%

Financial liabilities:
Deposit liabilities 1.46% 1.58% 1.69% 1.89% 2.56%

The following tables provide for the interest rate re-pricing gap of EW as of December 31, 2018
and 2017:

2018
Up to

1 month
> 1 to

3 months
> 3 to

6 months
>6 to

12 months >12 months Total
(In Millions)

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents P=5,863 P=− P=− P=− P=− P=5,863
Loans and receivables 39,376 5,436 5,214 6,097 151,159 207,282
Investment securities 4,287 − 848 205 33,271 38,611
Contingent assets * − 1,052 − − − 1,052

Total financial assets 49,526 6,488 6,062 6,302 184,430 252,808
Financial liabilities

Deposit liabilities P=126,884 P=8,344 P=3,791 P=740 P=21,093 P=160,852
Bills and acceptances payable 17,939 − − − − 17,939
Subordinated debt − − − − 6,250 6,250
Contingent liabilities ** − − − − 1,052 1,052

Total financial liabilities 144,823 8,344 3,791 740 28,395 186,093
Asset-liability gap (P=95,297) (P=1,856) P=2,271 P=5,562 P=156,035 P=66,715
* Consist of interest rate swap receivables
**Consist of interest rate swap payables

2017
Up to

1 month
> 1 to

3 months
> 3 to

6 months
>6 to

12 months >12 months Total
(In Millions)

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents P=12,388 P=− P=− P=− P=− P=12,388
Loans and receivables 31,973 5,664 4,592 3,755 141,823 187,807
Investment securities 7,245 − − 52 6,065 13,362
Contingent assets − 762 254 − − 1,016

Total financial assets 51,606 6,426 4,846 3,807 147,888 214,573

Financial liabilities
Deposit liabilities 78,072 22,322 7,030 1,877 20,971 130,273
Bills and acceptances payable 4,307 − − − − 4,307
Subordinated debt − − − − 6,250 6,250
Contingent liabilities − − − − 1,016 1,016

Total financial liabilities 82,379 22,322 7,030 1,877 28,237 141,846
Asset-liability gap (P=30,773) (P=15,896) (P=2,184) P=1,930 P=119,651 P=72,727
* Consist of interest rate swap receivables
**Consist of interest rate swap payables

EW also monitors its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates by using scenario analysis to
estimate the impact of interest rate movements on its interest income.  This is done by modeling
the impact to EW’s interest income and interest expenses of different parallel changes in the
interest rate curve, assuming the parallel change only occurs once and the interest rate curve after
the parallel change does not change again for the next twelve months.
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The following table sets forth, for the period indicated, the impact of changes in interest rates on
EW’s non-trading net interest income.  There is no other impact on EW’s equity other than those
already affecting the statements of income.

Change in basis points (bps) 2018 2017
(In Millions)

+100bps (P=903.1) (P=436.2)
-100bps 903.1 436.2

Market Risk Weighting as of December 31, 2018 and 2017
The table below shows the different market risk weighted assets of EW using the standardized
approach which is based on the standard weight per segment or asset class:

Type of Market Risk Exposure 2018 2017
(In Millions)

Interest Rate Exposures P=2,276 P=3,561
Foreign Exchange Exposures 220 379

P=2,496 P=3,940

Operational Risk
Operational risk is the loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems or from external events.  It includes legal, compliance and reputational risks but excludes
strategic risk.

Adopting the Basic Indicator Approach below, where computation is based on the 15.0% of the
average gross income for the past 3 years, it shows the total operational risk-weighted assets of
EW.

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Total operational risk-weighted assets P=38,959 P=32,159

Other Risk Exposures
EW risk exposures other than credit, market, liquidity and operational, while existent, are deemed
insignificant relative to the mentioned risks and if taken in isolation.  Hence, management of these
risks are instead collectively performed and made an integral part of EW’s internal capital
adequacy assessment process (ICAAP) and enterprise risk management initiatives.

Banking and Financial Services Capital Management
EW actively manages its capital to comply with regulatory requirements, enable growth targets,
withstand plausible stress events and be at par with EW peers.  The primary objective of EW’s
capital management is to ensure that it maintains adequate capital to cover risks inherent to its
banking activities without prejudice to optimizing shareholders’ value.

Regulatory Qualifying Capital
Under existing BSP regulations, the determination of EW’s compliance with regulatory
requirements and ratios is based on the amount of EW’s ‘unimpaired capital’ (regulatory net
worth) reported to the BSP, which is determined on the basis of regulatory policies.  In addition,
the risk-based Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) of a bank, expressed as a percentage of qualifying
capital to risk-weighted assets, should not be less than 10.0% for both solo basis (head office and
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branches) and consolidated basis (EW and subsidiaries engaged in financial allied undertakings).
Qualifying capital and risk-weighted assets are computed based on BSP regulations.

Effective January 1, 2014, EW complied with BSP issued Circular No. 781, Basel III
Implementing Guidelines on Minimum Capital Requirements, which provides the implementing
guidelines on the revised risk-based capital adequacy framework particularly on the minimum
capital and disclosure requirements for universal banks and commercial banks, as well as their
subsidiary banks and quasi-banks, in accordance with the Basel III standards.  The Circular sets
out a minimum Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) ratio of 6.0% and Tier 1 capital ratio of 7.5%.  It
also introduces a capital conservation buffer of 2.5% comprised of CET1 capital.  The BSP’s
existing requirement for Total CAR remains unchanged at 10.0% and these ratios shall be
maintained at all times.

Further, existing capital instruments as of December 31, 2010 which do not meet the eligibility
criteria for capital instruments under the revised capital framework shall no longer be recognized
as capital.  Capital instruments issued under BSP Circular Nos. 709 and 716 (the circulars
amending the definition of qualifying capital particularly on Hybrid Tier 1 and Lower Tier 2
capitals), and before the effectivity of BSP Circular No. 781, shall be recognized as qualifying
capital only until
December 31, 2015.  In addition to changes in minimum capital requirements, this Circular also
requires various regulatory adjustments in the calculation of qualifying capital.

On June 27, 2014, the BSP issued Circular No. 839, REST Limit for Real Estate Exposures which
provides the implementing guidelines on the prudential REST limit for universal, commercial, and
thrift banks on their aggregate real estate exposures.  EW should maintain CET1 and CAR levels
at the regulatory prescribed minimums, on a solo and consolidated basis, even after the simulated
results of a 25.0% write-off to EW’s real estate exposures.  These shall be complied with at all
times.

The capital-to-risk assets ratio reported to the BSP as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are shown
in the table below:

2018 2017
CET1 capital ratio 10.29% 11.31%
Tier 1 capital ratio 10.29% 11.31%
Total capital ratio 12.76% 14.04%

The composition of the qualifying capital of EW is shown below:

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Qualifying capital
Tier 1 capital P=41,918 P=38,620
CET1 capital 41,918 38,620
Less: Required deductions 10,081 9,875
Net Tier 1 capital 31,837 28,745
Tier 2 capital 7,622 6,960

Total qualifying capital P=39,459 P=35,705
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The capital requirements of EW as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are shown below:

2018 2017
(In Millions)

Capital requirements:
Credit risk P=267,828 P=218,153
Market risk 2,496 3,940
Operational risk 38,959 32,159

Total capital requirements P=309,283 P=254,252

Qualifying capital and risk-weighted assets (RWA) are computed based on BSP regulations.

Under Basel III, the regulatory Gross Qualifying Capital of EW consists of Tier 1 (core) and Tier
2 (supplementary) capital.  Tier 1 comprises share capital, surplus (including current year profit),
and other comprehensive income (cumulative foreign currency translation and net unrealized gains
on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income).  Required deductions
include goodwill, intangible assets, investments in equity, deferred tax assets, defined benefit
pension assets and unsecured credit accommodations to DOSRI and subsidiaries.  Tier 2 capital
comprise of unsecured subordinated debts and general loan loss provision.

Risk-weighted assets are determined by assigning defined risk weights to the statement of
financial position exposure and to the credit equivalent amounts of off-balance sheet exposures.
Certain items are deducted from risk-weighted assets, such as the excess of general loan loss
provision over the amount permitted to be included in Tier 2 capital.  The risk weights vary from
0.0% to 150.0% depending on the type of exposure, with the risk weights of off-balance sheet
exposures being subjected further to credit conversion factors.

Below is a summary of risk weights and selected exposure types:

Risk weight Exposure/Asset type*
0.0% Cash on hand; claims collateralized by securities issued by the national

government, BSP; loans covered by the Trade and Investment Development
Corporation of the Philippines; real estate mortgages covered by the HGC.

20.0% COCI, claims guaranteed by Philippine incorporated banks/quasi-banks with the
highest credit quality; claims guaranteed by foreign incorporated banks with the
highest credit quality; loans to exporters to the extent guaranteed by Small
Business Guarantee and Finance Corporation

50. 0% Housing loans fully secured by first mortgage on residential property; Local
Government Unit (LGU) bonds which are covered by Deed of Assignment of
Internal Revenue allotment of the LGU and guaranteed by the LGU Guarantee
Corporation

75.0% Direct loans of defined Small Medium Enterprise (SME) and microfinance loans
portfolio; non-performing housing loans fully secured by first mortgage

100. 0% All other assets (e.g., real estate assets) excluding those deducted from capital
(e.g., deferred income tax)

150.0% All non-performing loans (except non-performing housing loans fully secured by
first mortgage) and all non-performing debt securities

* Not all inclusive
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With respect to off-balance sheet exposures, the exposure amount is multiplied by a credit
conversion factor (CCF), ranging from 0.0% to 100.0%, to arrive at the credit equivalent amount,
before the risk weight factor is multiplied to arrive at the risk-weighted exposure.  Direct credit
substitutes (e.g., guarantees) have a CCF of 100.0%, while items not involving credit risk has a
CCF of 0.0%.

In the case of derivatives, the credit equivalent amount (against which the risk weight factor is
multiplied to arrive at the risk-weighted exposure) is generally the sum of the current credit
exposure or replacement cost (the positive fair value or zero if the fair value is negative or zero)
and an estimate of the potential future credit exposure or add-on.  The add-on ranges from 0.0% to
1.5% (interest rate-related) and from 1.0% to 7.5% (exchange rate-related), depending on the
residual maturity of the contract.  For credit-linked notes and similar instruments, the risk-
weighted exposure is the higher of the exposure based on the risk weight of the issuer’s collateral
or the reference entity or entities.

The risk-weighted CAR is calculated by dividing the sum of its Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital, as
defined under BSP regulations, by its risk-weighted assets.  The risk-weighted assets, as defined
by the BSP regulations, consist of all of the assets on the balance sheet at their respective book
values, together with certain other off-balance sheet items, weighted by certain percentages
depending on the risks associated with the type of assets.  The determination of compliance with
regulatory requirements and ratios is based on the amount of EW’s ‘unimpaired capital’
(regulatory net worth) as reported to the BSP, which is determined on the basis of regulatory
accounting practices which differ from PFRS in some respects.

EW has taken into consideration the impact of the foregoing requirements to ensure that the
appropriate level and quality of capital are maintained on an ongoing basis.

EW has taken into consideration the impact of the foregoing requirements to ensure that the
appropriate level and quality of capital are maintained on an ongoing basis.

The Group (Excluding EW)
Interest Rate Risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk for changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the
Group’s long-term debt obligations with a floating interest rate.  The Group’s interest rate
exposure management policy centers on reducing the Group’s overall interest expense and
exposure to changes in interest rates.  The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix
of fixed and floating interest-rate debts.  The Group regularly monitors available loans in the
market which is of cheaper interest rate and substitutes high-rate debts of the Group.

The Group’s long-term debt with floating interest rate usually mature after 3 to 5 years from the
date of availment, while fixed term-loans mature after five to ten years.
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates,
with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax and equity (through the
impact on floating rate borrowings).  There is no other impact on the Group’s OCI other than
those already affecting the profit and loss.

Increase
(Decrease)

in Bps

Effect on Income
Before Income Tax

(In Thousands)
2018 +200 (P=12,117)

-200 12,117
2017 +200 (P=69,380)

-200 69,380

The following table sets out the carrying amount by maturity, of the Group’s long-term debts that
are exposed to interest rate risk:

91-Day Treasury Bills/91-Day BVAL plus 1% to 2% margin
Below 1 Year 1 to2 Years >2 to3 Years >3 to 4 Years Over 4 Years Total

(In Thousands)
As of December 31, 2018 P=287,895 P=317,966 P=− P=− P=− P=605,861
As of December 31, 2017 P=740,129 P=854,978 P=796,802 P=677,083 P=400,000 P=3,468,992

Liquidity Risk
The Group seeks to manage its liquidity profile to be able to finance capital expenditures and
service maturing debts.  To cover its financing requirements, the Group uses internally generated
funds and available long-term and short-term credit facilities.

As part of its liquidity risk management, the Group regularly evaluates its projected and actual
cash flows.  It also continuously assesses conditions in the financial markets for opportunities to
pursue fund raising activities, in case any requirements arise.  Fund raising activities may include
bank loans and capital market issues.  Accordingly, its loan maturity profile is regularly reviewed
to ensure availability of funding through an adequate amount of credit facilities with financial
institutions.

Overall, the Group’s funding arrangements are designed to keep an appropriate balance between
equity and debt, to give financing flexibility while continuously enhancing the Group’s
businesses.

The following table summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s financial assets and contract
assets held to manage liquidity as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 based on contractual
undiscounted payments:

December 31, 2018

On demand
Less than
3 months

3 months
to 1 year

> 1 year
to 3 years

>3 years
to 5 years Over 5 years Total

(In Thousands)
Financial assets at amortized cost
Real Estate Operations

Cash and cash equivalents P=1,800,851 P=1,430,509 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=3,231,360
Contracts receivable  1,001,844 – – – – – 1,001,844

 Receivable from tenants  1,597,071  69,840  28,343  − – – 1,695,254
Receivable sale of commercial lots  484,606 – – – – – 484,606
Receivable from buyers 60,919 − − − − − 60,919

 Receivable from government and other
financial institutions

 177,437 – – – – – 177,437

Receivable from HOA 142,029 – – – – – 142,029
Due from related parties 4,312 – – – – – 4,312

 Others  323,811  1,275  2,938  3,970  1,586 –  333,580
5,592,880 1,501,624 31,281 3,970 1,586 – 7,131,341

(Forward)
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December 31, 2018

On demand
Less than
3 months

3 months
to 1 year

> 1 year
to 3 years

>3 years
to 5 years Over 5 years Total

(In Thousands)
Hospitality Operations

Cash in bank P=41,878 P=− P=− P=− P=− P=− P=41,878
Trade receivables 135,707 − − − − − 135,707

 Others 60,938 − − − − − 60,938
238,523 − − − − − 238,523

Power Operations
Cash in bank 1,058,754 − − − − − 1,058,754

 Trade receivables − 1,841,465 − − − − 1,841,465
1,058,754 1,841,465 − − − − 2,900,219

Sugar Operations
Cash in bank 23,568 − − − − − 23,568
Trade receivables 667 − − − − − 667

24,235 − − − − − 24,235
Others

Cash in bank 2,628 − − − − − 2,628
6,917,020 3,343,089 31,281 3,970 1,586 − 10,296,946

Financial Assets at FVTOCI
Investment in shares of stocks:

Quoted −  178,562 − − − − 178,562
Unquoted −  285,698 − − − − 285,698

− 464,260 − − − − 464,260
Total financial assets 6,917,020 3,807,349 31,281 3,970 1,586 − 10,761,206
Contract assets – 1,689,871  3,125,716  2,982,840  1,394,346  2,262,673 11,455,446

P=6,917,020 P=5,497,220 P=3,156,997 P=2,986,810 P=1,395,932 P=2,262,673 P=22,216,652

December 31, 2017

On demand
Less than
3 months

3 months
to 1 year

> 1 year
to 3 years

>3 years
to 5 years Over 5 years Total

(In Thousands)
Financial assets at amortized cost
Real Estate Operations

Cash and cash equivalents P=1,981,030 P=3,323,263 P=− P=− P=− P=− P=5,304,293
Contracts receivable 1,925,863 1,473,188 2,110,503 3,411,430 1,336,893 8,210,375 18,468,252
Receivable from tenants 976,157 − 1,300 − 2,020 − 979,477
Receivable sale of commercial lots 758,566 − − − − − 758,566
Receivable from buyers 365,926 − − − − − 365,926

 Receivable from government and other
financial institutions − − 487,701 − − − 487,701

Receivable from HOA 82,941 − − − − − 82,941
Due from related parties 32,076 − − − − − 32,076
Others 390,439 − − − − − 390,439

6,512,998 4,796,451 2,599,504 3,411,430 1,338,913 8,210,375 26,869,671
Hospitality Operations

Cash in bank 27,917 − − − − − 27,917
Trade receivables 84,713 − − − − − 84,713
Others 3,029 − − − − − 3,029

115,659 − − − − − 115,659
Power Operations

Cash in bank 2,176,127 − − − − − 2,176,127
Trade receivables − 1,784,434 − − − − 1,784,434

2,176,127 1,784,434 − − − − 3,960,561
Sugar Operations
 Cash in bank 13,006 − − − − − 13,006

Other receivables 3,109 − − − − − 3,109
16,115 − − − − − 16,115

Others
Cash in bank 2,496 − − − − − 2,496

8,823,395 6,580,885 2,599,504 3,411,454 1,338,913 8,210,375 30,964,502
Financial Assets at FVTOCI
Investment in shares of stocks:

Quoted − 213,073 − − − − 213,073
Unquoted − 177,051 − − − − 177,051

− 390,124 − − − − 390,124
Total financial assets 8,823,395 6,971,009 2,599,504 3,411,430 1,338,913 8,210,375 31,354,626
Contract assets − − − − − − −

P=8,823,395 P=6,971,009 P=2,599,504 P=3,411,430 P=1,338,913 P=8,210,375 P=31,354,626
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The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017 based on contractual undiscounted payments.

December 31, 2018

On demand Less than 3 months >1 year to >3 years to Over Total
3 months to 1 year 3 years 5 years 5 years

(In Thousands)
Accounts payable, accrued

 expenses and other liabilities
Accounts payable P=16,787,974 P=1,793,329 P=1,004,659 P=− P=− P=− P=19,585,962
Deposits from tenants 3,456,856 71,818 149,075 537,459 185,897 278,322 4,679,427
Retention fees payable 1,555,523 769,999 276,872 301,982 658,589 230,601 3,793,566
Accrued expenses − 3,315,641 − − − − 3,315,641
Accrued interest 2,061,777 − − − − − 2,061,777
Due to related parties 1,714,064 − − − − − 1,714,064
Deposits for registration − − − 1,059,970 − − 1,059,970
Financial liability on lease

contract 42,574 − − − 167,678 664,561 874,813
Asset retirement obligation − − − 522,581 − − 522,581

25,618,768 5,950,787 1,430,606 2,421,992 1,012,164 1,173,484 37,607,801
Long-term debt 782,633 47,916 9,452,663 38,393,328 34,071,782 44,599,194 127,347,516

P=26,401,401 P=5,998,703 P=10,883,269 P=40,815,320 P=35,083,946 P=45,772,678 P=164,955,317

December 31, 2017

On demand Less than 3 months >1 year to >3 years to Over Total
3 months to 1 year 3 years 5 years 5 years

(In Thousands)
Accounts payable, accrued

expenses and other liabilities
Accounts payable P=14,505,069 P=1,121,292 P=751,803 P=513,278 P=40,205 P=− P=16,931,647
Deposits from tenants 1,379,412 194,866 83,687 119,272 − − 1,777,237
Retention fees payable 3,282,287 713,482 162,525 117,574 732,512 341,085 5,349,465
Accrued expenses − 3,080,852 1,596,652 − − − 4,677,504
Accrued interest 1,238,754 260,260 − − − − 1,499,014
Due to related parties 1,713,902 − − − − − 1,713,902
Deposits for registration − 388 160,183 586,513 224,016 339,132 1,310,232
Financial liability on lease

contract − 9,825 6,681 858,015 − 4,028,819 4,903,340
Asset retirement obligation − − − − − 486,272 486,272

22,119,424 5,380,965 2,761,531 2,194,652 996,733 5,195,308 38,648,613
Long-term debt − 122,338 4,841,676 31,670,171 32,261,709 50,709,387 119,605,281

P=22,119,424 P=5,503,303 P=7,603,207 P=33,864,823 P=33,258,442 P=55,904,695 P=158,253,894

 Credit Risk
It is the Group’s policy that buyers who wish to avail the in-house financing scheme are subject to
credit verification procedures.  Receivable balances are being monitored on a regular basis and
subjected to appropriate actions to manage credit risk.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise
cash and cash equivalents and financial assets at amortized costs, the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amount of these instruments.
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The table below shows the comparative summary of maximum credit risk exposure on assets as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017.

2018 2017
(In Thousands)

Loans and Receivables
Real Estate Operations

Cash and cash equivalents P=3,231,360 P=5,304,293
Contracts receivable 1,001,844 18,468,252
Receivable from tenants 1,695,254 979,477
Receivable from sale of commercial lots 484,606 758,566
Receivable from buyers 60,919 365,926
Receivable from government and other financial

institutions 177,437 487,701
Receivables from HOA - net 142,029 82,941
Due from related parties 4,312 32,076
Others 333,580 390,439

7,131,341 26,869,671
Hospitality Operations

Cash and cash equivalents 41,878 27,917
Trade receivables 135,707 84,713
Others 60,938 3,029

238,523 115,659
Power Operations

Cash and cash equivalents 1,058,754 2,176,127
Trade receivables 1,841,465 1,784,434

2,900,219 3,960,561
Sugar Operations

Cash 23,568 13,006
Trade receivables 667 −
Others − 3,109

24,235 16,115
Other Operations

Cash and cash equivalents 2,628 2,496
Financial assets at FVTOCI

Quoted equity securities 178,562 175,681
Unquoted equity securities 285,698 288,579

464,260 464,260
P=10,761,206 P=31,428,762
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The loans and receivable of sugar, hospitality, power and other operations are neither past due nor
impaired and are considered high grade.  The succeeding table shows the credit quality by class of
asset for loan-related statement of financial position lines, based on the real estate operation’s
credit rating system as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, based on the Group’s credit rating system.

2018
Neither Past Due nor Impaired Past Due or

Individually
Impaired TotalHigh Grade

Standard
Grade

(In Thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents P=3,231,360 P=− P=− P=3,231,360
Contract assets 1,413,341 10,042,105 − 11,455,446
Loans and receivables
 Contracts receivable 146,981 520,184 334,679 1,001,844

Receivables from tenants 356,516 1,313,609 25,129 1,695,254
Receivable from sale of commercial lots 484,606 − − 484,606

 Receivable from government and other financial
institutions 177,437 − − 177,437

Receivables from homeowners’ association − 126,165 15,864 142,029
 Receivables from buyers 60,919 – – 60,919

Due from related parties 4,312 − − 4,312
Others 259,245 74,335 − 333,580

P=6,134,717 P=12,076,398 P=375,672 P=18,586,787

2017
Neither Past Due nor Impaired Past Due or

Individually
Impaired TotalHigh Grade

Standard
Grade

(In Thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents P=5,304,293 P=− P=− P=5,304,293
Loans and receivables
 Contracts receivable 993,034 17,048,221 426,997 18,468,252

Receivable from sale of commercial lots 758,566 − − 758,566
Receivables from tenants 245,166 709,182 25,129 979,477

 Receivable from government and other financial
institutions 487,701 − − 487,701

Receivables from buyers 365,926 – – 365,926
 Receivables from homeowners’ association − 45,677 37,264 82,941

Due from related parties 32,076 − − 32,076
Others 390,439 − − 390,439

P=8,577,201 P=17,803,080 P=489,390 P=26,869,671

The analysis of financial assets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

2018
Neither past

due nor
impaired

Past due but not impaired
Less than

30 days
30 to

60 days
61 to

90 days
91to

120 days
Over

120 days Subtotal Impaired Total
(In Thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents P=3,231,360 P=− P=− P=− P=− P=− P=− P=− P=3,231,360
Loans and receivables 11,455,446 − − − − − − 11,455,446

Contracts receivable 667,165 334,679 − − − − 334,679 − 1,001,844
Receivables from tenants 1,670,125 − − − − − − 25,129 1,695,254

 Receivable from sale of
commercial lots - net 484,606

− − − − − − −
484,606

 Receivable from government and
other financial institutions 177,437

− − − − − − −
177,437

 Receivables from homeowners’
association 126,165

− − − − − −
15,864 142,029

Receivable from buyers 60,919 − − − − − − − 60,919
Due from related parties 4,312 − − − − − − − 4,312
Others 333,580 − − − − − − − 333,580

P=18,211,115 P=334,679 P=− P=− P=− P=− P=334,679 P=40,993 P=18,586,787
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2017
Neither past

due nor
impaired

Past due but not impaired
Less than

30 days
30 to

60 days
61 to

90 days
91to

120 days
Over

120 days Subtotal Impaired Total
(In Thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents P=5,304,293 P=− P=− P=− P=− P=− P=− P=− P=5,304,293
Loans and receivables

Contracts receivable 18,041,255 − 143,594 195,142 88,261 − 426,997 − 18,468,252
 Receivable from government and

other financial institutions 487,701 − − − − − − − 487,701
Receivables from tenants 954,348 − − − − − − 25,129 979,477
Due from related parties 32,076 − − − − − − − 32,076

 Receivables from homeowners’
association 45,677 − − − − − − 37,264 82,941

 Receivable from sale of
commercial lots – net 758,566 − − − − − − − 758,566

Receivable from buyers 365,926 − − − − − − − 365,926
Others 390,439 − − − − − − − 390,439

P=26,380,281 P=− P=143,594 P=195,142 P=88,261 P=− P=426,997 P=62,393 P=26,869,671

The Group’s high-grade receivables pertain to receivables from related parties and third parties
which, based on experience, are highly collectible or collectible on demand, and of which
exposure to bad debt is not significant.  Receivables assessed to be of standard grade are those
which had passed a certain set of credit criteria, and of which the Group has not noted any
extraordinary exposure which calls for a substandard grade classification.

Real Estate Operation Capital Management
Real estate operation’s primary objective is to maintain its current sound financial condition and
strong debt service capabilities as well as to continuously implement a prudent financial
management program.

Real estate operation manage their capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of
changes in economic conditions.  It closely monitors its capital and cash positions and carefully
manages its capital expenditures such as land acquisitions, constructions and project developments
and fixed charges.  Real estate operation prefers to enter into joint venture arrangements with
landowners to develop land rather than purchasing land outright, which reduces its capital
requirements and can increase returns.  Furthermore, real estate operation may also, from time to
time, seek other sources of funding, which may include debt or equity issues depending on its
financing needs and market conditions.

Real estate operation continues to fund its project developments using medium to long-term
financing, which can help mitigate any negative effects of a sudden downturn in the Philippine
economy or a sudden rise in interest rates.

Hospitality Operations Capital Management
Hospitality operation’s primary objective is to improve the profitability and continuously
implement a prudent financial management program.  Capital and cash positions are closely
monitored and expenditures and disbursements are carefully managed.  Hospitality operation
considers total equity as capital.

As of December 31, 2016, MSSI is subject to an externally imposed capital requirements by the
Board of Investment (BOI).  Such requirements prescribed that MSSI shall increase its equity to
P=391.0 million equivalent to 25% of the total project cost.  As of December 31, 2016, MSSI was
able to comply with the said requirement upon receipt of contribution of assets from the Parent
Company.  As of December 31, 2018, MSSI is no longer subject to externally imposed capital
requirements.
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Power Operation
Power operation’s primary objective is to effectively manage its cash flow position.  Cash flows
are managed by ensuring that billings are prepared and delivered promptly and by working closely
with electric cooperatives to ensure timely collection of receivables.

Sugar Operation Capital Management
Sugar operation manages their capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in
economic conditions.  It closely monitors its capital and cash positions and carefully manages its
expenditures and disbursements.  Furthermore, sugar operation also, from time to time seeks other
sources of funding, which may include internal or external borrowings depending on its financing
needs and market conditions.

Sugar operation monitors capital using a gearing ratio which is total debt divided by total equity.
Debt includes accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities, income tax payable, due to
related parties, short-term and long-term debt.  The policy is to keep the gearing ratio not to
exceed 2.0:1.0.

Derivative Financial Instruments
The Group’s freestanding derivative financial instruments, which mainly consist of foreign
currency forward contracts and swaps, and interest rate swaps, are transactions not designated as
hedges.

The table below sets out information about the Group’s derivative financial instruments and the
related fair value as of December 31, 2018 and 2017:

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts and Swaps 2018 2017
(In Thousands)

Notional amount USD163,000 USD183,418
Derivative assets (Note 20) P=1,905,552 P=1,382,442
Derivative liabilities (Note 23) 9,953 22,439

Futures 2018 2017
(In Thousands)

Notional amount USD− USD9,218
Derivative assets (Note 20) − P=1,905
Derivative liabilities (Note 23) − −

Interest Rate Swaps 2018 2017
(In Thousands)

Notional amount USD20,000 USD20,000
Derivative assets (Note 20) P=170,981 P=152,474
Derivative liabilities (Note 23) 136,595 152,142
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The net movements in fair value changes of all derivative instruments are as follows:

2018 2017
(In Thousands)

Balances at beginning of year P=1,362,240 P=1,313,084
Net changes in fair value of derivatives

Designated as accounting hedges 493,768 42,149
Not designated as accounting hedges 28,685 (14,818)

1,884,693 1,340,415
Fair value of settled instruments

Not designated as accounting hedges 45,292 21,825
Balances at end of year P=1,929,985 P=1,362,240

Fair value changes of foreign currency forwards and swaps (not designated as accounting hedge)
are recognized as Foreign exchange gain while fair value changes of interest rate swaps are
recognized as Trading and securities gain as part of Other income from the financial banking and
services.

Derivatives Designated as Accounting Hedges
In 2013, the Parent Company entered into two 7-year cross currency swaps (CCS) with an
aggregate notional amount of USD150.0 million to hedge its foreign currency risk arising from the
USD286.5 million fixed rate bonds issued by FDCI.  The Group applies hedge accounting
treatment on these cross currency swaps after complying with hedge accounting requirements,
specifically on hedge documentation designation and effectiveness testing.

Under the CCS agreements, the Parent Company receives fixed interest of USD at the rate of 4.3%
of the USD150.0 million total notional amount and pay fixed interest in Philippine Peso at 6.0%
and 5.8% of P=2.1 billion and P=4.1 billion, respectively, semi-annually on a 30/360 day count basis.
The notional amount of the cross-currency swap equals that of the debt, and all cash flows dates
and interest rates coincide between the debt and the CCS.

The maturity date of the CCS contracts coincides with the maturity date of the hedged bonds.

Pertinent details of the CCS are as follows (amounts in millions):

Notional amount Trade date Effective date Maturity date Swap rate
USD100.00 April 3 2013 April 4, 2013 April 20, 2020 40.9

USD50.00 May17, 2013 May 20, 2013 April 20, 2020 41.2

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the fair value of the cross currency swaps designated as
hedging instruments amounted to P=1,875.5 million and P=1,381.3 million, respectively, presented
as Derivative assets under Other assets in the consolidated statement of financial position (see
Note 20).  The net movement on cash flow hedges amounted to P=67.4 million loss, net of deferred
tax of P=28.9 million, P=18.8 million loss, net of deferred tax of P=8.1 million, and P=128.5 million
loss, net of deferred tax of P=55.1 million in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and is presented in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
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Hedge Effectiveness Results
Since the critical terms of the hedged bonds and the CCS match, except for 1 to 2 days timing
difference on the interest dates, the hedges were assessed to be highly effective.  As such, the
aggregate fair value changes on these CCS amounting to P=67.4 million, P=18.8 million and
P=128.5 million in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, were recognized by the Group under Net
movement on cashflow hedges, net of tax account in the consolidation statements of
comprehensive income.

No ineffectiveness was recognized in the Group’s consolidated statements of income in 2018,
2017 and 2016.

38. Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

The amendments to PFRS 7, which is effective January 1, 2013, require the Group to disclose
information about rights of offset and related arrangements (such as collateral posting
requirements) for financial instruments subject to enforceable master netting agreements or similar
arrangements.  The effects of these arrangements are disclosed in the succeeding tables.

Financial Assets

December 31, 2018

Financial assets
recognized at

end of reporting
period by type

Gross carrying
amounts (before

offsetting)

Gross amounts
offset in

accordance with
the offsetting

criteria

Net amount
presented in the

consolidated
statements of

financial
position

[a-b]

Effect of remaining rights of set-off
(including rights to set off financial
collateral) that do not meet PAS 32

offsetting criteria

Net exposure
[c-d]

Financial
instruments

Fair value of
financial
collateral

[a] [b] [c] [d] [e]
(In Thousands)

Derivative assets (Note 20) P=2,076,533 P=– P=2,076,533 P=– P=– P=2,076,533

December 31, 2017

Financial assets
recognized at

end of reporting
period by type

Gross carrying
amounts (before

offsetting)

Gross amounts
offset in

accordance with
the offsetting

criteria

Net amount
presented in the

consolidated
statements of

financial
position

[a-b]

Effect of remaining rights of set-off
(including rights to set off financial
collateral) that do not meet PAS 32

offsetting criteria

Net exposure
[c-d]

Financial
instruments

Fair value of
financial
collateral

[a] [b] [c] [d] [e]
(In Thousands)

Derivative assets (Note 20) P=1,536,821 P=– P=1,536,821 P=– P=– P=1,536,821

Financial Liabilities

December 31, 2018

Financial liabilities
recognized at

end of reporting
period by type

Gross carrying
amounts (before

offsetting)

Gross amounts
offset in

accordance with
the offsetting

criteria

Net amount
presented in the

consolidated
statements of

financial
position

[a-b]

Effect of remaining rights of set-off
(including rights to set off financial
collateral) that do not meet PAS 32

offsetting criteria

Net exposure
[c-d]

Financial
instruments

Fair value of
financial
collateral

[a] [b] [c] [d] [e]
(In Thousands)

Derivative liabilities
(Note 23) P=146,548 P=–  P=146,548 P=– P=– P=146,548
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December 31, 2017

Financial liabilities
recognized at

end of reporting
period by type

Gross carrying
amounts (before

offsetting)

Gross amounts
offset in

accordance with
the offsetting

criteria

Net amount
presented in the

consolidated
statements of

financial
position

[a-b]

Effect of remaining rights of set-off
(including rights to set off financial
collateral) that do not meet PAS 32

offsetting criteria

Net exposure
[c-d]

Financial
instruments

Fair value of
financial
collateral

[a] [b] [c] [d] [e]
(In Thousands)

Derivative liabilities
(Note 23) P=174,581 P=– P=174,581 P=– P=– P=174,581

The amounts disclosed in column (d) include those rights to set-off amounts that are only
enforceable and exercisable in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy.  This includes
amounts related to financial collateral both received and pledged, whether cash or non-cash
collateral, excluding the extent of over-collateralization.

39. Notes to Statement of Cash Flows

Changes in Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018

January 1,
2018 Cashflows

Foreign Exchange
Movement

Noncash
Movement

December 31,
2018

(In Thousands)
Long-term debt P=125,816,419 P=674,616 P=782,633 P=73,848 P=127,347,516
Bills and acceptance payable 4,159,695 13,810,231 − − 17,969,926
Finance lease obligation 874,521 (60,339) − 60,631 874,813
Accrued interest 1,499,014 (5,439,399) − 6,002,162 2,061,777
Dividends payable 21,036 (1,450,771) − 1,453,709 23,974
Due to related parties 1,713,902 162 − − 1,714,064
Total liabilities from financing

activities P=134,084,587 P=7,534,500 P=782,633 P=7,590,350 P=149,992,070

Noncash movements include the effects of declaration of dividends, amortization of debt issuance
costs, and accretion of liability under finance lease (see Notes 24, 25 and 32).

For the Year Ended December 31, 2017

January 1,
2017 Cashflows

Foreign Exchange
Movement

Noncash
Movement

December 31,
2017

(In Thousands)
Long-term debt P=117,435,957 P=8,031,401 P=85,002 P=264,059 P=125,816,419
Bills and acceptance payable 2,194,595 1,965,100 − – 4,159,695
Liability on IPP Administrator

contract 7,530,175 (1,408,010) − (6,122,165) –
Finance lease obligation 824,335 − − 50,186 874,521
Accrued interest 1,138,434 (4,575,646) − 4,936,226 1,499,014
Dividends payable 18,779 (1,415,329) − 1,417,586 21,036
Due to related parties 2,063,994 (34,347) − (315,745) 1,713,902
Total liabilities from financing

activities P=131,206,269 P=2,563,169 P=85,002 P=230,147 P=134,084,587
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Noncash movements include the effects of declaration of dividends, amortization of debt issuance 

costs, termination of IPPA contract, accretion of liability under finance lease, and offsetting of 

amounts receivable from ALGI as a result of the partial rescission against outstanding due to 

related parties (see Notes 24, 25, 26 and 32). 

 

 Noncash Transactions Affecting Investing Activities 

Transfers from loans and receivables to investment properties as a result of foreclosures amounted 

to P=142.5 million, P=170.4 million and P=129.2 million in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, for 

EW (see Note 16).  Amounts mentioned are exclusive of loss on asset foreclosure and dacion 

transactions amounting to P=212.9 million, P=236.4 million and P=29.5 million in 2018, 2017 and 

2016, respectively. 

 

 

40. Maturity Analysis of Assets and Liabilities  

 

The following tables show an analysis of assets and liabilities analyzed according to whether they 

are expected to be recovered or settled within one year and beyond one year from the statement of 

financial position date: 

 
 2018 2017 (As restated, see Note 2) 

 

Less than 

12 months* 

Over 

12 months Total 

Less than 

12 months** 

Over 

12 months Total 

 (In Thousands) 

Assets       
Cash and other cash items P=68,121,296 P=− P=68,121,296 P=75,318,997 P=− P=75,318,997 

Loans and receivables - net       
 Real estate operations 4,098,425 162,916 4,261,341 8,920,994 12,938,667 21,859,661 

 Hospitality operations 196,645 − 196,645 92,529 − 92,529 

 Banking and financial services 97,953,032 133,577,885 231,674,917 85,509,284 123,649,829 209,159,113 
 Power operations 1,841,465 − 1,841,465 1,785,956 − 1,785,956 

 Sugar operations  117,871 − 117,871 130,022 − 130,022 

Financial assets at FVTPL 4,338,794 − 4,338,794 7,313,183 − 7,313,183 
Financial assets at FVTOCI 15,069 735,218 750,287 − 404,785 404,785 

Investment securities at  

 amortized cost 13,896,211 22,614,335 36,510,546 − 6,472,223 6,472,223 
Contract assets 5,212,172 6,243,274 11,455,446 − − − 

Real estate inventories 80,194,282 − 80,194,282 65,599,393 − 65,599,393 

Coal, spare parts and  
 other inventories 691,422 − 691,422 576,566 − 576,566 

Investment properties - net − 68,981,794 68,981,794 − 63,347,079 63,347,079 

Property and equipment - net − 44,422,852 44,422,852 − 45,024,260 45,024,260 
Investment in joint ventures − 734,621 734,621 − 873,796 873,796 

Deferred tax assets - net − 2,600,752 2,600,752 − 2,213,059 2,213,059 

Goodwill − 10,381,104 10,381,104 − 10,381,104 10,381,104 
Other assets 12,136,961 11,235,866 23,228,827 14,015,923 8,266,000 22,281,923 

 P=288,813,645 P=301,690,617 P=590,504,262 P=259,262,847 P=273,570,802 P=532,833,649 

Liabilities       
Deposit liabilities P=237,797,831 P=29,128,313 P=266,926,144 P=215,903,150 P=25,414,034 P=241,317,184 

Bills and acceptances payable 17,969,927 − 17,969,927 4,159,695 − 4,159,695 

Accounts payable and accrued 
expenses 35,246,408 5,234,019 40,480,427 33,657,761 7,140,779 40,798,540 

Contract liabilities 2,922,437 2,768,291 5,690,728 − − − 

Long-term debt 10,283,212 117,064,304 127,347,516 4,928,596 120,887,823 125,816,419 
Income tax payable 606,460 − 606,460 715,066 − 715,066 

Retirement liabilities − 1,117,076 1,117,076 − 934,968 934,968 

Deferred tax liabilities - net − 10,684,670 10,684,670 − 9,962,170 9,962,170 

 P=304,826,275 P=165,996,673 P=470,822,948 P=259,364,268 P=164,339,774 P=423,704,042 

*Includes current assets and current liabilities of EW amounting to P=181,780,202 and P=286,115,652 as of December 31, 2018, 

 respectively. 
** Includes current assets and current liabilities of EW amounting to P=161,740,024 and P=227,937,047 as of December 31, 2017, 

 respectively.  

*SGVFS033664*
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41. Registrations with the PEZA and CSEZ

On February 20, 2017, June 1, 2016, and April 21, 2016, respectively, FCMI, MCI and FMI were
registered and granted a Permit-to-Operate as a Clark Freeport enterprises in Clark Clark-Subic
Economic Zone (CSEZ).  As a registered enterprise, FMI is entitled to a special tax rate of 5% of
gross income and tax exemption and duty-free importation in certain purchases directly related to
its business activities as approved by CDC.

On December 15, 2015, PDDC was registered with PEZA as an Ecozone Facilities Enterprise.  As
a registered enterprise, PDDC is entitled to certain tax and non-tax benefits such as exemption
from payment of national and local taxes and instead a special tax rate of 5% of gross income.

FAC, CPI and PDDC are also entitled to zero percent (0%) VAT for sales to ECOZONE
enterprises.

On February 13, 2002, FLI, FAC and CPI were registered with PEZA pursuant to the provisions
of the RA No. 7916 as the Ecozone Developer/Operator to lease, sell, assign, mortgage, transfer or
otherwise encumber the area designated as a Special Economic Zone (Ecozone) to be known as
Filinvest Technology Park-Calamba.

Under the registration, FLI shall enjoy 5% preferential tax privilege on income generated from the
Ecozone as opposed to the regular income tax rate.

On June 11, 2001, FAC was registered with PEZA as the developer/operator of PBCom Tower
and as such it will not be entitled to any incentives, however, IT enterprises which shall locate in
PBCom Tower shall be entitled to tax incentives pursuant to RA No. 7916.

On June 6, 2000, CPI was registered with PEZA as an Ecozone Facilities Enterprise.  As a
registered enterprise, it is also entitled to certain tax and non-tax benefits such as exemption from
payment of national and local taxes and instead a special tax rate of 5% of gross income.

42. Registration with the BOI

The Group has registered the following New Developer of Low-Cost Mass Housing Projects
with the BOI under the Omnibus Investments Code of 1987 (Executive Order No. 226) as of
December 31, 2018:

Name Reg. No. Date Registered
Valle Dulce Phase 1 2014-140 8/29/2014
One Spatial (Fairmont and Greenwich) 2014-141 8/29/2014
Sorrento Oasis Bldg. K,L,N 2014-142 8/29/2014
Maui Oasis  Bldg. 4 2014-143 8/29/2014
Sorrento Oasis  Bldg. M1 & M2 2014-204 11/12/2014
Vinia Residences, Main Building 2014-205 11/12/2014
One Oasis CDO  Bldg. 1 2014-212 12/4/2014
Studio City Tower 2 2015-058 3/5/2015
One Spatial (Hampstead and Kensington) 2015-228 10/27/2015
Sorrento Oasis J 2015-229 10/27/2015
Villa Montserrat 1D 2015-261 11/25/2015

(Forward)
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Name Reg. No. Date Registered
Villa Montserrat 3B 2015-262 11/25/2015
Villa Montserrat 3C 2015-263 11/25/2015
One Oasis Davao 6 2015-264 12/2/2015
Studio A 2016-008 1/8/2016
Meridian Place 2016-030 2/5/2016
Bali Oasis (Banjar) 2016-031 2/5/2016
Anila Park Townhomes 2016-052 3/7/2016
Futura Homes, San Pedro 2016-053 3/7/2016
One Spatial (Richmond) 2016-244 12/1/2016
One Spatial Iloilo 2016-243 12/1/2016
Futura Homes Mactan Subdivision 2016-270 12/27/2016
One Spatial Victoria 2017-030 1/27/2017
Studio 7 2017-031 1/27/2017
8 Spatial Davao 1&2 2017-047 2/28/2017
8 Spatial Davao Bldg 3 2017-130 5/23/2017
8 Spatial Davao Bldg 4 2017-131 5/23/2017
Marina Spatial Marina Town Bldg. A 2017-129 5/23/2017
One Oasis CDO 2 2017-184 6/20/2017
Ventura Real 2017-298 11/08/2017
Meridian Place Phase 2 2017-354 12/22/2017
Savannah Fields 1 2017-355 12/22/2017
Savannah Fields 4A 2017-357 12/27/2017
Valle Dulce 2 2017-356 12/27/2017
New Fields 2018-016 01/22/2018
Futura Homes Palm Estates 2018-156 07/20/2018
Futura Homes Zamboanga 2018-200 09/24/2018

On December 12, 2018, DSRI was registered with BOI as New Operator of Tourist
Accommodation Facility under the Omnibus Investment Code of 1987 (Certificate of Registration
No. 2013-123).

On September 2, 2014, BSI’s registration was upgraded from Non-Pioneer status to Pioneer status
in which ITH entitled period wasa increased from 4 years to 6 years starting December 2017 or
actual start of commercial operations, whichever is earlier, but in no case earlier than the date of
registration.

On August 30, 2013, the Group’s 405 MW Misamis Power Plant was registered as New Operator
of Coal Fired Power Project with the BOI under the Omnibus Investment Code of 1987 (Executive
Order No. 226).

On June 7, 2013, BSI was registered with BOI as New Operator of Tourist Accommodation
Facility under Modernization Program on a Non-Pioneer status (Certificate of Registration No.
2013-123) under Omnibus Investment Code.  Under the terms of the Non-Pioneer status with BOI,
BSI is entitled to an income tax holiday (ITH) for a period of 4 years from December 2017 or
actual start of commercial operations, whichever is earlier than the date of registration.

As a registered enterprise, the Group is entitled to certain tax and nontax incentives, subject to
certain conditions.
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43. Trust Operations

Securities and other properties held by EW in fiduciary or agency capacity for clients and
beneficiaries are not included in the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position
since these are not assets of EW.  The combined trust and managed funds operated by the Trust
Department of EW amounted to P=24,490.0 million and P=14,110.0 million as of December 31,
2018 and 2017, respectively.

Government securities with a total face value of P=245.0 million and P=170.0 million as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, are deposited with the BSP in compliance with current
banking regulations related to EW’s trust functions.  These government securities are recorded as
part of investment securities at amortized costs as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.

In accordance with BSP regulations, 10.0% of the profits realized by EW from its trust operations
are appropriated to surplus reserves.  The yearly appropriation is required until the surplus
reserves for trust operations amounts to 20.0% of EW’s authorized capital stock.

EW’s income from its trust operations amounted P=51.3 million, P=46.8 million and P=18.6 million in
2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively (see Note 27).

44. Events After Reporting Period

On December 20, 2018, FDC, JG Summit Holdings Inc. (JGSHI), the Philippine Airport Ground
Support Solutions, Inc. (PAGSSI) and Changi Airports Philippines (I) Pte. Ltd. (CAP)
(collectively referred to as North Luzon Airport Consortium or NLAC) won the bid by the BCDA
for the operations and maintenance contract of Clark International Airport.

On January 21, 2019, NLAC signed the contract that grants a 25-year concession to the
consortium to develop the commercial assets, operate and maintain project facilities and fit-out the
new terminal in Clark.

On February 18, 2019, Luzon International Premiere Airport Development Corp. (LIPAD Corp.)
was incorporated to engage in the operation and maintenance of airports.  LIPAD Corp. is 42.5%
owned by FDC, 33.0% owned by JGSHI, 15.0% owned by CAP and 9.5% owned by PAGSSI.





 

 

ANNEX “D” 

 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS  

 

 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 

Year Ended December 31, 2018 Compared With Year Ended December 31, 2017 

 

 

Revenues 

 

 

Real Estate Operations 

 

Sale of Lots, Condominium and Residential Units 

Sale of lots, condominium and residential units grew by 18.2% or P3,132.1 million from  

P17,230.7 million in 2017 to P20,362.8  million in 2018, at the back of: (a) FAI’s higher sales of 

commercial lots and condominium units; and (b) FLI’s increased real estate sales from middle-

income projects.   

 

Mall and Rental Revenues 

Mall and rental revenues amounted to P6,174.4 million in 2018, an increase of 26.1% or by  

P1,277.2 million from P4,897.2 million in 2017.  Filinvest Axis Tower 1, located in Northgate 

Cyberzone Alabang; Filinvest Cyberzone Cebu Tower 2, located in Salinas, Cebu; and Filinvest 

Cyberzone Mimosa Building 1, located in Mimosa Clark, have been completed adding 76,046 

square meters (sq.m.) of gross leasable area (GLA) to the office portfolio. FLI now operates 27 

buildings totaling 457,970 sq.m. of GLA. For retail, FLI now has 242,127 sq.m. GLA to the retail 

portfolio. 

 

 

Hospitality Operations  

 

Hospitality Revenues  

Hospitality revenues amounted to P2,665.5 million, a jump of 22.6% or an increase of P491.0 

million from the P2,174.5 million revenues reported in 2017.  This was on account of higher room 

and occupancy rates, increased golf revenues, and the commencement of operations of Crimson 

Resort and Spa Boracay (Crimson Boracay) in November 2018. 

 

Banking and Financial Services 

 

Net Interest Income 

 

Banking and Financial Services Interest Income 

The banking and financial services’ interest income surged by 10.7% or P2,299.8 million from  

P21,494.7 million in 2017 to P23,794.5 million in 2018 primarily due to the higher volume of 
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EW’s loans and receivables particularly in consumer loans, with growth across EW’s auto, credit 

card and personal loans. 

 

 

Costs of Banking and Financial Services 

Costs of banking and financial services increased by 43.2% or P1,447.3 million from P3,346.7 

million in 2017 to P4,794.0 million in 2018 mainly due to the effect of higher deposit rates and 

increased volume of high-cost time deposit liabilities, which comprised almost half of the Bank’s 

total deposit liabilities as of December 31, 2018. 

 

Net Interest Income 

Net interest income increased by 4.7% from P18,148.0 million in 2017 to P19,000.5 million in 

2018 due to the continued growth in EW’s consumer portfolio, offsetting the impact of higher 

volume of high-cost time deposits. 

 

 

Power Operations  

 

Power Revenues  

Power revenues decreased by 13.2% or P1,312.0 million from P9,942.5 million in 2017 to  

P8,630.5 million in 2018.  The revenues reported in previous year included the revenue 

contribution from Independent Power Producer Administrator (IPPA) contracts which were 

terminated in the last quarter of 2017.  Excluding the contributions from IPPA contracts in 2017, 

power revenues increased by 27.2% from P6,724.0 million to P8,555.0 million due to increased 

energy sales. 

 

 

Sugar Operations 

 

Sugar Sales 

The Group’s sugar sales increased by 14.3% or P305.7 million from P2,143.0 million in 2017 to  

P2,448.7 million in 2018 on account of higher sales volumes and improved sugar prices. 

 

 

Other Income 

 

 

Other Income — Real Estate Operations 

Other income from real estate operations decreased by 8.2% to P2,236.8 million in 2018 from 

P2,437.5 million in 2017 due to lower interest income derived from contracts receivable. 

 

Other Income — Hospitality Operations 

Other income from hospitality operations increased by 24.7% or P7.9 million to P39.8 million in 

2018 from P31.9 million in 2017 mainly due to higher share in net income of a joint venture. 

 

Other Income — Banking and Financial Services 
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The Group’s other income from banking and financial services decreased by 13.7% or P985.3 

million from P7,197.7 million in 2017 to P6,212.4 million in 2018.  This was primarily on account 

of EWRB’s reduced service charges and fees earned from teachers’ loan, as a result of the 

suspension by the Department of Education (DepEd) of the automatic payroll deduction 

arrangement starting in November 2017.  In June 2018, EWRB signed the new Memorandum of 

Agreement with DepEd and has resumed providing new loans to public school teachers. 

 

Other Income – Power Operations 

Other income from power operations increased by P650.2 million from P9.1 million in 2017 to  

P659.3 million in 2018 mainly due to compensation received from the power plant contractor 

amounting P650.0 million for lost revenues due to the delay in the completion of the power plant.  

 

Other Income — Sugar Operations 

Other income from sugar operations of P89.2 million was an increase of almost thrice as much as 

the reported P31.5 million other income in 2017 due to conversion rights income. 

 

 

Costs 
 

 

Costs of Sale of Lots, Condominium and Residential Units 

Costs of sale of lots, condominium and residential units increased by 12.9% or P1,179.2 million 

from P9,142.7 million to P10,321.9 million primarily due to increase in the amount of real estate 

sales booked during the current period.  The said increase in costs of sales was lower than the 

18.2% increase in the Group’s sale of lots, condominium and residential units due to a greater 

proportion of FAI’s sale of commercial lots with relatively higher gross profit margin.   

 

Costs of Mall and Rental Services 

Costs of mall and rental services increased by 5.6% or P46.4 million from P834.2 million in 2017 

to P880.6 million in 2018 mainly due to depreciation of new buildings for lease that commenced 

operations in 2018, as mentioned above. 

 

Costs of Hospitality Operations 

The Group’s costs of hospitality operations increased by 24.9% or P268.4 million from P1,076.8 

million in 2017 to P1,345.2 million in 2018, driven by higher manpower costs resulting from wage 

increase and additional staffing, higher food and beverage costs, salaries and utilities, due to the 

commencement of operations of Crimson Boracay in 2018 and higher business volume across the 

Group’s other hotel properties. 

 

Costs of Banking and Financial Services 

Costs of banking and financial services was accounted for under net interest income in the 

“Revenues”. 

 

Costs of Power Operations  

Costs of power operations decreased by 34.7% or P2,455.9 million from P7,069.7 million in 2017 

to P4,613.7 million in 2018.  The costs of power in 2017 included the incurred costs of the IPPA 
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contracts consisting of P2,316.6 million purchased electricity and P1,138.6 million amortization 

of rights under the contracts.  These initially qualified as intangible assets but were subsequently 

derecognized when the IPPA contracts were terminated in 2017.     

 

Costs of Sugar Sales 

The Group’s costs of sugar sales increased by 8.5% or P151.9 million from P1,787.1 million in 

2017 to P1,939.0 million in 2018.  Because of higher sales volume, the 8.5% increase in costs of 

sugar sales was slower than the 14.3% increase in the Group’s sugar sales due to improved prices 

of raw sugar. 

 

Costs of Other Operations 

Costs of other operations increased by 5.4% or P32.5 million from P607.5 million in 2017 to  

P640.0 million in 2018 due to translation adjustment of interest on foreign-currency denominated 

bonds payable. 

 

Expenses 

 

Real Estate Operations 

Expenses of real estate operations increased by 22.0% from P5,045.0 million in 2017 to P6,153.3 

million in 2018 attributed to (a) higher business permits and real property taxes as a result of higher 

revenues and completion of more buildings during the year; (b) full operation of DPI which 

resulted to higher salaries, wages and benefits; (c) service fees paid by PDDC; and (d) selling and 

marketing expenses mainly for brokers’ commissions and advertising costs.  

 

Hospitality Operations 

The expenses of hospitality operations increased by 6.0% or P53.0 million from P876.8 million in 

2017 to P929.8 million in 2018 on account of higher room occupancy rates and the commencement 

of operations of Crimson Boracay in 2018, which led to increased manpower cost, higher rent and 

credit card commission expense. 

 

Banking and Financial Services 

The expenses of banking and financial services increased by 3.3% from P18,895.7 million in 2017 

to P19,521.0  million in 2018 on account of: (a) higher tax rates, particularly the documentary 

stamp tax on time deposits; (b) marketing expenses due to new advertising campaigns; and (c) 

training exercises for EW’s employees to be deployed at its branch stores. 

 

Power Operations 

The expenses of power operations decreased by 26.5% or P957.1 million from P3,614.7 million 

in 2017 to P2,657.6  million in 2018 due to (a) accretion expense on the liability on IPPA contracts, 

incurred only in 2017 as the contracts were terminated in the same year; and (b) 2017 provision 

for probable losses on contingencies incident to the ordinary course of business operations of the 

power operations segment. 

 

Sugar Operations 
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Sugar operating expenses increased by 48.5% from P233.3 million in 2017 to P346.4 million in 

2018 mainly due to additional allowance for impairment losses on certain sugar refinery assets and 

provision for probable losses on contingencies. 

 

Others 

Expenses of other operations increased by 90.5% or P614.1 million from last year’s P678.5 million 

to P1,292.6 million.  The expenses reported in previous year included a one-time adjustment in 

borrowing costs pertaining to interest expense which should have been capitalized as part of the 

cost of a constructed asset that was funded by the bonds in which the borrowing costs were 

incurred.    

 

Provision for Income Tax 

Provision for income tax increased by 8.4% or P346.3 million from P4,108.4 million in 2017 to  

P4,454.7 million in 2018.  Provision for current income tax increased by 20.5% or P664.6 million 

attributed to higher taxable income of the real estate operations as a result of increased revenues.  

Provision for deferred income tax decreased by 36.8% or P318.4  million due mainly to temporary 

differences between financial and taxable income.  

 

Net Income 

As a result of the foregoing, consolidated net income increased by 30.7% or P3,150.8 million from 

P10,273.3 million in 2017 to P13,424.0 million in 2018.  Net income attributable to equity holders 

of the Parent Company increased by 47.6% or P3,147.1 million from P6,612.4 million in 2017 to  

P9,759.5 million in 2018 while net income attributable to noncontrolling interest amounted to  

P3,664.5 million in 2018. 

 

FINANCIAL CONDITION 

 

As at December 31, 2018 Compared with As at December 31, 2017 

 

Assets 

 

Total consolidated assets as of December 31, 2018 increased by 10.8% from P532,833.6 million 

to P590,504.3 million.  The changes in asset accounts were accounted as follows:   

   

Cash and cash equivalents decreased by 9.6% or P7,197.7 million from P75,319.0 million to  

P68,121.3 million.  More funds were placed in higher yielding liquid assets which led to lower 

cash balance particularly on EW’s interbank loans receivable.  

 

Loans and receivables of the real estate operations decreased by 80.5% from P21,859.7 million to 

P4,261.3 million as a result of the adoption of PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, 

wherein receivables with maturities exceeding one year were reclassified as Contract assets.  Total 

Receivables and Contract assets of the real estate segment decreased by 28.1% due to strong 

collections during the period, the majority of which came from middle-income projects.   

 

Loans and receivables of the hospitality operations increased by 112.5% or P104.1 million from  

P92.5 million to P196.6 million which mainly came from credit card transactions. 
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Loans and receivables of the banking and financial services increased by 10.7% or P22,371.8 

million from P209,159.1 million to P231,530.9 million on account of the growth in EW’s 

consumer loans consisting of auto, personal, credit cards and mortgage loans. 

 

Loans and receivables of the power operations increased by 3.1% or P55.5 million from P1,786.0 

million to P1,841.5 million principally due to transition adjustments of P200.0 million arising from 

the adoption of new accounting standards. 

 

Loans and receivables of the sugar operations went down by 9.3% from P130.0 million to P117.9 

million due to lower level of advances to sugar planters related to sugar cane farming operations. 

 

Financial assets at FVTPL decreased by 40.7% or P2,974.4 million from P7,313.2 million to  

P4,338.8 million which resulted from the movements in EW’s proprietary trading portfolio. 

 

Financial assets at FVTOCI increased by 85.4% or P345.5 million from P404.8 million in 2017 to  

P750.3 million in 2018 mainly due to higher fair values of securities investments. 

 

Investment securities at amortized cost amounted to P36,510.5 million which posted an increase 

of almost 6 times the P6,472.2 million balance in year-end of last year, in line with EW’s business 

models. 

 

Contract assets of P11,455.4 million was recognized and reclassed from Loans and receivables in 

compliance with PFRS 15, as previously mentioned. 

 

Real estate inventories went up by 22.2% from P65,599.4 million to P80,194.3 million due to 

rawland acquisitions including acquisition of  Cleon Properties amounting to P=4.7 billion and P=

1.9 billion of GPRDI. Moreover, real estate inventories accelerated spending on saleable real estate 

project costs. 

 

Coal, spare parts and other inventories increased by 19.9% or P114.9 million from P=576.6 million 

to P=691.4 million principally due to the higher level of the power segment’s coal and fuel inventory 

as of reporting date. 

 

Investment properties increased by 8.9% or P=5,634.7 million from P=63,347.1 to P=68,981.8 million 

mainly due to the additional construction costs of new buildings intended for office and 

commercial buildings for lease. These are primarily located in Northgate Cyberzone in Alabang, 

Filinvest Cyberzone in Pasay Bay Area, Filinvest Mimosa, Fora Mall in Tagaytay, Main Square 

in Cavite, and Il Corso in Cebu. 

 

Property, plant and equipment decreased by 1.3% or P=601.4 million from P=45,024.3 million to  

P=44,422.9 million mainly due to depreciation expense, offset by the additional property and 

equipment acquired during the year. 
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Investments in joint ventures decreased by 15.9% or P139.2 million from P873.8 million to  

P734.6 million attributed mainly to take up of EW’s proportionate share in the net loss of its joint 

venture. 

 

Deferred tax assets increased by 17.5% or P=387.7 million from P=2,213.1 million to P=2,600.8 

million due to EW’s higher allowances set-up, net of write-offs. 

 

Other assets increased by 4.9% from P=22,281.9 million to P=23,372.8 million mainly attributed to 

the construction costs of the Filinvest Cebu Cyberzone, classified under noncurrent other assets 

pursuant to BTO agreement with the Government of Cebu. 

 

Liabilities 

 

Total consolidated liabilities amounted to P470,822.9 million as at December 31, 2018, 11.1% 

higher than P423,704.0 million balance as at December 31, 2017.  Movements in account balances 

were as follows: 

 

Deposit liabilities stood at P266,926.1 million, up by 10.6% from P241,317.2 million largely 

attributable to the growth of high-cost deposits. 

 

Bills and acceptances payable increased by 332.0% or P13,810.2 million from P4,159.7 million to 

P17,969.9 million due to higher volume of interbank borrowings of EW. 

 

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities decreased by 0.8% or P318.1 million 

from P40,798.5 million to P40,480.4 million as a result of the adoption of PFRS 15, Revenue from 

Contracts with Customers,  wherein accounts payable with maturities exceeding one year were 

reclassified as Contract liabilities.  Total Accounts payable and Contract liabilities increased by 

13.2% due to higher level of payables to contractors and suppliers for construction activities. 

 

Contract liabilities of P5,690.7 million was recognized in compliance with PFRS 15, as previously 

mentioned.  

 

Long-term debt increased by 1.2% or P1,531.1 million to P127,347.5 million from P125,816.4 

million on account of additional loan availments, to finance the ongoing development of the real 

estate and hospitality operations, partially offset by amortizations paid during the year. 

 

Income tax payable decreased by 15.2% from P715.1 million to P606.5 million attributable to 

EW’s lower taxable income, to be remitted in 2019. 

 

Deferred tax liabilities increased by 7.3% or P722.5 million from P9,962.2 million to P10,684.7 

million due to additional capitalized borrowing costs on long-term debt and other temporary 

differences of financial and taxable income. 

 

Equity 
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On May 4, 2018, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the declaration and payment of cash 

dividends of P=661.6 million or P=0.0765 per share for every common shares of record as of June 

28, 2018 share payable on June 3, 2018.  

 

On April 28, 2017, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the declaration and payment of cash 

dividends of P=549.7 million or P=0.059 per share for every common shares of record as of May 28, 

2017 share payable on June 21, 2017.  

 

On April 29, 2016, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the declaration and payment of cash 

dividends of P=480.7 million or P=0.052 per share for every common share payable on June 21, 2016 

to stockholders of record as of May 27, 2016. 

 

The Group has commitments for capital expenditures for the project developments of the real estate 

segment, the requirement of the sugar manufacturing subsidiaries, the development and 

construction of solar rooftop facilities and other utility projects, the intended construction and 

management of various hotels, and the bank’s expansion and implementation of IT projects, which 

could be adequately covered by the operating cash flow and availment of medium and long term 

loans. 

 

Performance Indicators 

 

  
As of And For The 

Year Ended  

As of And For The 

Year Ended 

  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017 

       

Earnings Per Share - Basic (EPS)  P1.128 /share  P0.710 /share 

Net Income (Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent 

Company)       

Weighted Average Number of Outstanding Shares       

       

Price Earnings Ratio (PE Ratio)  10.46 Times  10.92 Times 

Closing Price       

EPS       

       

Return on Revenue  18%   15%  

Total Net Income       

Total Revenue       

       

Return on Equity (Average)  12%   10%  

Total Net Income       

Average Total Equity       

       

       

(Forward)       

  
As of And For The 

Year Ended  

As of And For The 

Year Ended 

  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017 
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Assets to Equity Ratio  4.93 : 1   4.88 : 1  

Total Assets        

Total Equity       

       

Debt to Equity Ratio       

a)                            Long-term Debt  1.06 : 1   1.15 : 1  

Total Equity       

 

b)            Total Liabilities Excluding Deposit   

Liabilities, and Bills and Acceptances Payable  1.55 : 1   1.63 : 1  

Total Equity       

       

Current Ratio 

a)  Including EW       

Current Assets  0.95 : 1   1.00: 1  

Current Liabilities       

 

       

b) Excluding EW       

Current Assets  5.72 : 1   3.10 : 1  

Current Liabilities       

       

Quick Ratio  1.43 : 1   1.02 : 1  

Current Assets – Inventories       

Current Liabilities       

       

Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and 

Amortization (EBITDA) to Total Interest Expense  6.94 Times  7.17 Times 

EBITDA       

Total Interest Expense       

       

       
Notes to Financial Statements and Other Disclosures 

 

1. The attached consolidated financial statements are prepared in compliance with PFRS. The accounting policies 

and methods of computation followed in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 are the 

same as those followed in the annual financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2017. 

 

2. Except for the sugar business, the operating activities of the Company are carried out uniformly over the calendar 

year.  The sugar milling season of the Company’s sugar subsidiaries is usually from November to June of the 

following year. Except for this milling season, there are no other unusual operating cycles or seasons during the 

year. 

 

3. Except as disclosed in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 

Operation, there are no unusual items affecting assets, liabilities, equity, net income or cash flows for the current 

period. There are no known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that will have a material 

impact on the Company’s liquidity. 
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4. There are no changes in estimates of amounts reported in the previous period that have material effects in the 

current period. 

 

5. Except for those discussed in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 

Operations, there are no issuances, repurchases and repayments of debt and equity securities. 

 

6. There were no other dividends paid (aggregate or per share) separately for ordinary shares and other shares during 

the current period, except as discussed in the previous sections. 

 

7. The Company derives its revenues from the following reportable segments: 

 

Real Estate Operations 

This involves acquisition of land, planning and development of large-scale fully integrated residential 

communities as well as the development and sale of residential lots, housing units, medium-rise residential 

buildings, farm estates, industrial parks, residential resort projects, a private membership club and condominium 

buildings. This segment also involves operations and management of cinema and mall, property management and 

leasing of commercial and office spaces. 

 

Hospitality Operations 

This involves operation of hotels, including management of resorts, villas, golf course, service apartment and 

other services for the pleasure, comfort and convenience of guests in said establishments under its management. 

 

Banking and Financial Services 

This involves a wide range of financial services to consumer and corporate clients which includes deposit-taking, 

loan and trade finance, treasury, trust services, credit cards, cash management, custodial services, insurance 

services and leasing and finance.  The business units in this segment consist of retail banking, corporate banking, 

consumer banking, and treasury and trust. 

 

Power Operations 

This involves the establishment, construction, operation of power plants and supply of power to offtakers and 

also includes management of power plants’ output under the IPPA contracts. 

 

Sugar Operations 

This involves operation of agricultural lands for planting and cultivating farm products, operation of a complete 

sugar central for the purpose of milling or converting sugar canes to centrifugal or refined sugar and selling of 

sugar and by-products. 

 

Other Operations 

 

This involves other operations of the Parent Company including CWSI, CTI and FDCI. FDCI was incorporated 

to facilitate the Group’s issuance of foreign currency-denominated bonds while CWSI was incorporated to 

provide maintenance, operation, management and rehabilitation of waterworks sewerage and sanitation system 

and services specifically for the distribution, supply and sale of potable water to domestic, commercial and 

industrial. CTI is engaged in providing computer and information technology services including, but not limited 

to, general consulting, improvement systems planning, network integration, business re-engineering services, 

systems integration and system development. 

 

Financial information on the operations of these business segments as of and for the years ended December 31, 

2018 and 2017 are summarized and included in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 

8. Except as discussed in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 

Operations, there are no material events subsequent to December 31, 2018 up to the date of this report that have 

not been reflected in the financial statements for the current period. 

 

9. There have been no changes in the composition of the Company during the current period, such as business 

combination, acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and long-term investments, restructurings and discontinuing 
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operations, except as discussed in the Developments of the Company and Management’s Discussion on its Results 

of Operations. 

 

10. There are no changes in contingent liabilities or contingent assets since December 31, 2018. 

 

11. There are no material contingencies and any other events or transactions affecting the current period. 

 

12. There are no known events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the 

Company, including any default or acceleration of an obligation. 

 

13. There are no known material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations including contingent 

liabilities, and other relationships of the Company, with unconsolidated entities or other persons created during 

the reporting period. 

 

14. There are no significant elements of income or loss, except as discussed in the Management’s Discussion on the 

Results of Operations that did not arise from the Company’s continuing operations. 

 

15. There are no known seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition or results of operations. 

 

16. Aside from the possible material increase in interest rates on the outstanding floating – rate term loans, there are 

no known trends, events or uncertainties or any material commitments that may result to any cash flow or liquidity 

problems of the Group within the next 12 months. The Group is not in default or breach of any note, loan, lease 

or other indebtedness or financing arrangements requiring it to make payments or any significant amount in its 

accounts payable that have not been paid within the stated terms. 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 

Year Ended December 31, 2017 Compared With Year Ended December 31, 2016 

 

 

Revenues 

 

Real Estate Operations 

 

Sale of Lots, Condominium and Residential Units 

Sale of lots, condominium and residential units increased by 5.0% or P823.9 million from  

P16,406.8 million in 2016 to P17,230.7 million in 2017 as a result of growth in sale of commercial 

lots and real estate sales from middle-income projects inclusive of MRBs and HRBs. 

 

Mall and Rental Revenues 

Mall and rental revenues reached P4,897.2 million, an increase of 27.8% or by P1,065.3 million 

from P3,831.9 million in 2016.  Vector Three, located in Northgate Cyberzone Alabang has been 

completed and turned over, adding 36,000 square meters of GLA to the office portfolio. FLI now 

operates 22 buildings totaling 348,000 square meters of GLA. For retail, Fora Mall in Tagaytay 

and Main Square Mall in Bacoor were completed adding 50,000 square meters GLA to the retail 

portfolio. 

 

Hospitality Operations  

 

Hospitality Revenues  

Hospitality revenues climbed to P2,174.5 million in 2017 from P1,587.4 million in 2016 which 

posted a surge of P587.1 million or 37.0% attributed mostly to Quest Hotel and Conference Center 

and Mimosa Golf, Clark which begun contributing revenues in the third quarter of last year.  The 

increase was also backed by higher occupancy and average room rates across all hotels. 

 

Banking and Financial Services 

 

Net Interest Income 

 

Banking and Financial Services Interest Income 

Interest income from banking and financial services surged by 21.5% or P3,810.2 million from  

P17,684.5 million in 2016 to P21,494.7 million in 2017 attributable to double-digit growth in 

consumer loans led by auto loans, personal loans and mortgage loans. 

 

Costs of Banking and Financial Services 

Costs of banking and financial services was higher by 28.1% or P734.0 million from P2,612.7 

million in 2016 to P3,346.7 million in 2017 primarily on account of strong growth in deposits and 

bank’s issuance of P10.0 billion worth of LTNCDs. 

 

Net Interest Income 
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As a result of the foregoing, net interest income stood at P18,148.0 million, 20.4% or P3,076.2 

million higher than the P15,071.8 million posted last year.  Net interest margin remains at an 

industry leading level of 7.8% as EW remains one of the most consumer focused bank in the 

industry. 

 

Power Operations  

 

Power Revenues  

Power revenues amounted to P9,942.5 million in 2017, an increase of 32.4% or P2,432.5 million 

from P7,510.0 million in 2016.  This was attributable to full year operation of the FDC Misamis 

coal plant which started commercial operation in the last quarter of 2016. 

 

Sugar Operations 

 

Sugar Sales 

Sugar sales in 2017 amounted to P2,143.0 million, lower by 16.4% or P419.5 million from  

P2,562.5 million sales in 2016 mainly caused by decline in sugar prices. 

 

 

Other Income 

 

Other Income — Real Estate Operations 

Other income from real estate operations amounted to P2,437.5 million, an increase of 3.3% or  

P78.6 million over the P2,358.9 million other income of last year due to higher interest income 

from contracts receivable, miscellaneous income and various fees charged to buyers and other 

lease-related activities.  

Other Income — Hospitality Operations 

Other income from hospitality operations was lower by 23.5% or by P9.9 million, from P41.8 

million in 2016 to P31.9 million in 2017, due to a one-time booking of cumulative share in net 

earnings of CHI in 2016.  

 

Other Income — Banking and Financial Services 

Other income from banking and financial services grew by 10.3% or P672.7 million from  

P6,525.0 million in 2016 to P7,197.7 million in 2017 due to higher service charges, fees and 

commissions consisting mostly of consumer loan-related fees and credit card charges.  

 

Other Income – Power Operations 

Other income from power operations was lower by P26.8 million at P9.1 million in 2017 on 

account of forex adjustments. 

 

Other Income — Sugar Operations 

Other income from sugar operations went up by 3.6% or P1.1 million from P30.4 million in 2016 

to P31.5 million in 2017 as a result of increase in storage income. 

 

 

Costs 
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Costs of Sale of Lots, Condominium and Residential Units 

Costs of sale of lots, condominium and residential units amounting to P9,142.7 million during the 

year, was 3.0% or P262.8 million higher than P 8,879.9 million of last year mainly on account of 

higher sales booking during the year.  

 

Costs of Mall and Rental Services 

Costs of mall and rental services went up to P834.2 million in 2017 or an increase of 43.3% or by  

P251.9 million from P582.3 million of last year due to depreciation of new buildings for lease. 

 

Costs of Hospitality Operations 

Costs of hospitality operations was at P1,076.8 million in 2017, higher by 37.4% or P293.0 million 

from P783.8 million in 2016, because of additional business volume from MCI’s Quest Hotel and 

Conference Center and Mimosa Golf, Clark as it becomes full year operational in 2017. 

 

Costs of Banking and Financial Services 

Costs of banking and financial services was accounted for under net interest income in the 

“Revenues and Other Income”. 

 

Costs of Power Operations  

Costs of power operations at P7,069.7 million increased by 12.2% or P766.2 million from  

P6,303.5 million cost in 2016.  This was due to the full year operation costs of the coal plant. 

 

Costs of Sugar Sales 

Costs of sugar sales in 2017 amounted to P1,787.1 million, a decrease of 1.8% or P32.0 million 

from the P1,819.1 million cost in 2016.  The decline resulted mainly from the drop in sugar prices. 

 

Costs of Other Operations 

A reduction of 3.8% or P24.2 million in costs of other operations was posted from P631.7 million 

in 2016 to P607.5 million in 2017 due to an adjustment in accrued interest payable. 

  

 

Expenses 

 

 

Real Estate Operations 

Expenses of the real estate operations increased by P661.7 million or 15.1% to P5,045.0 million 

from P4,383.3 million in 2016 due to higher operating expenses related to the opening of new 

malls and BPO buildings for lease.  

 

Hospitality Operations 

Expenses of the hospitality operations decreased by 3.7% or P33.5 million from P910.3 million in 

2016 to P876.8 million in 2017 due to capitalized rent expense for renovations made in Quest 

Hotel and Conference Center and Mimosa Golf, Clark. 

 

Banking and Financial Services 
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Expenses of the banking and financial services increased year-on-year by 7.0% from P17,658.6 

million to  

P18,895.7 million which ascribed to higher manpower cost, taxes and licenses, brokerage fees, 

advertising and insurance, all on account of expanded business stores and operations. 

 

Power Operations 

Expenses of the power operations doubled from P1,251.3 million in 2016 to P3,614.7 million in 

2017 primarily due to the impact of the full year operation of Misamis coal plant on depreciation 

and interest. 

 

Sugar Operations 

Expenses of sugar operations went up by 35.7% to P233.3 million in 2017 from P171.9 million in 

2016 mainly because of the provision for impairment of refinery assets. 

 

Others 

Expenses of other operations at P678.5 million declined by 31.2% or P307.2 million from last 

year’s P985.7 million as 2017 includes a one-time adjustment in borrowing costs pertaining to 

interest expense which should have been capitalized as part of the cost of a constructed asset that 

was funded by the bonds in which the borrowing costs were incurred.  

 

 

Provision for Income Tax 

Provision for income tax increased by 31.5% or P983.3 million from P3,125.1 million in 2016 to 

P4,108.4 million in 2017.  Provision for current income tax increased by 25.9% or P666.3 million 

attributed to higher taxable income of the real estate and banking and financial services.  Provision 

for deferred income tax also increased by 57.8% or P317.1 million due mainly to EW’s lower 

provision for probable losses during the current reporting period.  

 

 

Net Income 

As a result of the foregoing factors, consolidated net income surged by 21.2% or P1,797.2 million 

from P8,476.1 million in 2016 to P10,273.3 million in 2017.  Net income attributable to equity 

holders of the Parent Company amounted to P6,612.4 million in 2017, a 20.2% increase from 

P5,502.7 million in 2016. 
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FINANCIAL CONDITION 

 

 

As at December 31, 2017 Compared with As at December 31, 2016 

 

Assets 

 

Total consolidated assets stood at P532,833.6 million as at December 31, 2017, higher by 6.9% or 

P34,194.5 million from P498,639.1 million as at December 31, 2016.  The following were the 

changes in account balances:   

 

Cash and cash equivalents increased by 18.7% or P11,840.6 million from P63,478.4 million to 

P75,319.0 million on account of EW’s growth in bank deposits driven by business expansion.   

 

Loans and receivables of the real estate operations decreased by 14.7% from P25,620.0 million to 

P21,859.7 million mainly due to collections of receivables during the period. 

 

Receivables of the hospitality operations expanded by 67.6% or P37.3 million from P55.2 million 

to  

P92.5 million mainly due to increased volume of revenues. 

 

Loans and receivables of the banking and financial services climbed by 11.6% or by P21,707.7 

million from P187,451.4 million to P209,159.1 million as the bank’s consumer loans grew by 

16.6% year-on-year from higher business volume of customer loans on auto, personal and 

mortgage loans. 

 

Receivables of the power operations at P1,786.0 million was higher by 18.9% or P283.4 million 

than the P1,502.6 million balance as at December 31, 2016 on account of the full year operations 

of the coal plant. 

 

Receivables of the sugar segment amounted to P130.0 million, 12.3% or P14.2 million higher than  

P115.8 million balance in end-2016 brought by additional advances to sugar planters. 

 

Financial assets at FVTPL posted a growth of 38.8% or P2,045.4 million from P5,267.8 million to 

P7,313.2 million due to movements in EW’s proprietary trading portfolio. 

 

Financial assets at FVTOCI decreased by 4.0% or P16.9 million from P421.7 million in 2016 to  

P404.8 million in 2017 on account mainly of changes in fair values during the period. 

 

Investment securities at amortized cost amounted to P6,472.2 million or a decrease of 41.8% or  

P4,657.3 million from P11,129.5 million in line with EW’s balance sheet strategy. 

 

Real estate inventories went up to P65,633.6 million or a growth of 16.8% or P9,428.2 million 

from P56,205.4 million ascribed to additional projects launched and purchases of rawland for 

development. 
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Coal, spare parts and other inventories decreased by 15.8% or P108.6 million from P=685.2 million 

to P=576.6 million due to lower level of sugar inventories and power segment’s increased 

consumption of coal, diesel, material supplies, spare parts and chemicals.  

 

Investment properties and property, plant and equipment increased by 9.4% and 5.1%, 

respectively, due to additional costs of buildings for lease and additional construction and 

development costs of Crimson Resort Boracay. 

 

Investments in joint ventures of P873.8 million posted an increase of 34.5% or P224.0 million 

from P649.8 million on account of EW’s remeasurement of shares in the joint venture offset by its 

proportionate share in the net loss. 

 

Deferred tax assets went down by 5.4% or P=125.2 million from P=2,338.3 million to P=2,213.1 

million on account of the termination of power segment’s IPPA contracts.  

 

Goodwill as of December 31, 2017 amounted to P=10,381.1 million, 26.6% or P=3,770.2 million 

lower than  

P=14,151.3 million balance as of December 31, 2016.  The decrease resulted from the amendment 

by way of partial rescission of the Deed of Exchange between FDC and ALGI involving the 

transfer by the latter of 100% ownership in PSHC to the former in exchange for FDC shares. 

 

IPPA rights of P=7,113.4 million as of December 31, 2016 were fully closed as of December 31, 

2017 due to the termination of the IPPA contracts for Mt. Apo 1 and 2 geothermal power plants in 

December 2017. 

 

Other assets stood at P=22,281.9 million, an increase of 2.4% or P=521.2 million from P=21,760.7 

million on account of construction costs of the noncurrent assets in relation to the Build-Transfer-

Operate (BTO) agreement with the Government of Cebu and hospitality segment’s advances to 

contractors particularly for Crimson Hotel Boracay. 

 

 

 

Liabilities 

 

Total consolidated liabilities amounted to P423,704.0 million as at December 31, 2017, 7.4% 

higher than P394,684.2 million balance as at December 31, 2016.  Movements in account balances 

were as follows: 

 

Deposit liabilities stood at P241,317.2 million, up by 8.7% from P221,979.3 million largely 

attributable to the growth of low cost deposits (CASA) generated from the Bank’s expanded store 

network.  LTNCDs aggregating P10.0 billion were also issued during the year. 

 

Bills and acceptances payable increased by 89.5% or P1,965.1 million from P2,194.6 million to  

P4,159.7 million due to higher volume of interbank and other short term borrowings of EW. 
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Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities rose by 16.3% or P5,848.5 million from 

P35,885.0 million to P41,733.5 million mainly due to the accrual for the purchase of rawland and 

payables to contractors and suppliers for project constructions. 

 

Liability on IPPA contract of P7,530.2 million as of December 31, 2016 was closed in 2017 due 

to the termination of the IPPA contracts for Mt. Apo 1 and 2 in December 2017, as previously 

mentioned. 

 

Income tax payable increased by 47.0% from P486.5 million to P715.1 million attributable to 

current tax set-up of real estate for the year. 

 

Long-term debt totaled P125,816.4 million as of December 31, 2017, an increase of 7.1% or  

P8,380.4 million from the P117,436.0 million total debt as at December 31, 2016 on account of 

the bond issuance by CPI and additional bank loans to finance the ongoing projects and 

developments of the Group. 

 

Deferred tax liabilities increased by 8.6% or P789.4 million from P9,172.8 million to P9,962.2 

million due to additional capitalized borrowing costs on long-term debt and other temporary 

differences of financial and taxable income. 

 

 

 

Equity 

 

On April 28, 2017, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the declaration and payment of cash 

dividends of P=549.7 million or P=0.059 per share for every common shares of record as of May 28, 

2017 share payable on June 21, 2017.  

 

On April 29, 2016, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the declaration and payment of cash 

dividends of P=480.7 million or P=0.052 per share for every common share payable on June 21, 2016 

to stockholders of record as of May 27, 2016. 

 

On May 15, 2015, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the declaration and payment of cash 

dividends of P=465.9 million or P=0.05 per share for every common share payable on July 2, 2015 

to stockholders of record as of June 10, 2015. 

 

The Group has commitments for capital expenditures for the project developments of the real 

estate segment, the requirement of the sugar manufacturing subsidiaries, the development and 

construction of power plant and other utility projects, the intended construction and management 

of various hotels, and the bank’s expansion and implementation of IT projects, which could be 

adequately covered by the operating cash flow and availment of medium and long term loans. 

 

Performance Indicators 

 

 

  
As of And For The 

Year Ended  

As of And For The 

Year Ended 
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  December 31, 2017  December 31, 2016 

       

Earnings Per Share - Basic (EPS)  P0.710 /share  P0.591 /share 

Net Income (Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent 

Company)       

Weighted Average Number of Outstanding Shares       

       

Price Earnings Ratio (PE Ratio)  10.92 Times  13.94 Times 

Closing Price       

EPS       

       

Return on Revenue  15%   14%  

Total Net Income       

Total Revenue       

       

Return on Equity (Average)  10%   8%  

Total Net Income       

Average Total Equity       

       

Assets to Equity Ratio  4.88: 1   4.80: 1  

Total Assets        

Total Equity       

       

Debt to Equity Ratio       

a)                            Long-term Debt  1.15 : 1   1.13 : 1  

Total Equity       

 

b)            Total Liabilities Excluding Deposit   

Liabilities,  Bills and Acceptances Payable and Liability on 

IPPA Contract  1.63 : 1   1.57 : 1  

Total Equity       

       

Current Ratio 

a)  Including EW       

Current Assets  1.00: 1   1.02 : 1  

Current Liabilities*       
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As of And For The 

Year Ended  

As of And For The 

Year Ended 

  December 31, 2017  December 31, 2016 

       

b) Excluding EW       

Current Assets  3.10 : 1   3.49 : 1  

Current Liabilities*       

       

Quick Ratio  1.02 : 1   1.08 : 1  

Current Assets – Inventories       

Current Liabilities*       

       

Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and 

Amortization (EBITDA) to Total Interest Expense  7.17 Times  7.62 Times 

EBITDA       

Total Interest Expense       

       

*Excluding current portion of Liability on IPPA Contract       

 

 
Notes to Financial Statements and Other Disclosures 

 

1. The attached consolidated financial statements are prepared in compliance with PFRS. The accounting policies 

and methods of computation followed in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017 are the 

same as those followed in the annual financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2016. 

 

2. Except for the sugar business, the operating activities of the Company are carried out uniformly over the calendar 

year.  The sugar milling season of the Company’s sugar subsidiaries is usually from November to June of the 

following year. Except for this milling season, there are no other unusual operating cycles or seasons during the 

year. 

 

3. Except as disclosed in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 

Operation, there are no unusual items affecting assets, liabilities, equity, net income or cash flows for the current 

period. There are no known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that will have a material 

impact on the Company’s liquidity. 

 

4. There are no changes in estimates of amounts reported in the previous period that have material effects in the 

current period. 

 

5. Except for those discussed in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 

Operations, there are no issuances, repurchases and repayments of debt and equity securities. 

 

6. There were no other dividends paid (aggregate or per share) separately for ordinary shares and other shares during 

the current period, except as discussed in the previous sections. 

 

7. The Company derives its revenues from the following reportable segments: 

 

Real Estate Operations 

This involves acquisition of land, planning and development of large-scale fully integrated residential 

communities as well as the development and sale of residential lots, housing units, medium-rise residential 
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buildings, farm estates, industrial parks, residential resort projects, a private membership club and condominium 

buildings. This segment also involves operations and management of cinema and mall, property management and 

leasing of commercial and office spaces. 

 

Hospitality Operations 

This involves operation of hotels, including management of resorts, villas, golf course, service apartment and 

other services for the pleasure, comfort and convenience of guests in said establishments under its management. 

 

Banking and Financial Services 

This involves a wide range of financial services to consumer and corporate clients which includes deposit-taking, 

loan and trade finance, treasury, trust services, credit cards, cash management, custodial services, insurance 

services and leasing and finance.  The business units in this segment consist of retail banking, corporate banking, 

consumer banking, and treasury and trust. 

 

Power Operations 

This involves the establishment, construction, operation of power plants and supply of power to offtakers and 

also includes management of power plants’ output under the IPPA contracts. 

 

Sugar Operations 

This involves operation of agricultural lands for planting and cultivating farm products, operation of a complete 

sugar central for the purpose of milling or converting sugar canes to centrifugal or refined sugar and selling of 

sugar and by-products. 

 

Other Operations 

This involves other operations of the Parent Company including CWSI and FDCI.  FDCI was incorporated to 

facilitate the Group’s issuance of foreign currency-denominated bonds while CWSI was incorporated to provide 

maintenance, operation, management and rehabilitation of waterworks sewerage and sanitation system and 

services specifically for the distribution, supply and sale of potable water to domestic, commercial and industrial. 

 

Financial information on the operations of these business segments as of and for the years ended December 31, 

2017 and 2016 are summarized and included in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 

8. Except as discussed in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 

Operations, there are no material events subsequent to December 31, 2017 up to the date of this report that have 

not been reflected in the financial statements for the current period. 

 

9. There have been no changes in the composition of the Company during the current period, such as business 

combination, acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and long-term investments, restructurings and discontinuing 

operations, except as discussed in the Developments of the Company and Management’s Discussion on its Results 

of Operations. 

 

10. There are no changes in contingent liabilities or contingent assets since December 31, 2017. 

 

11. There are no material contingencies and any other events or transactions affecting the current period. 

 

12. There are no known events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the 

Company, including any default or acceleration of an obligation. 

 

13. There are no known material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations including contingent 

liabilities, and other relationships of the Company, with unconsolidated entities or other persons created during 

the reporting period. 

 

14. There are no significant elements of income or loss, except as discussed in the Management’s Discussion on the 

Results of Operations that did not arise from the Company’s continuing operations. 

 

15. There are no known seasonal aspects that had a material effect on the financial condition or results of operations. 



Filinvest Development Corporation 

Management’s Discussion And Analysis 
Page 22 of 32 

 

 

 

16. Aside from the possible material increase in interest rates on the outstanding floating – rate term loans, there are 

no known trends, events or uncertainties or any material commitments that may result to any cash flow or liquidity 

problems of the Group within the next 12 months. The Group is not in default or breach of any note, loan, lease 

or other indebtedness or financing arrangements requiring it to make payments or any significant amount in its 

accounts payable that have not been paid within the stated terms. 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Year Ended December 31, 2016 Compared With Year Ended December 31, 2015 

 

 

Revenues  
 

Real Estate Operations 

 

Sale of Lots, Condominium and Residential Units and Club Shares 

Sale of lots, condominium and residential units and club shares grew by 2.5% or P401.0 million 

from P16,005.8 million in 2015 to P16,406.8 million in 2016, with the increase in sale of lots in 

Filinvest City and higher sales from middle-income projects consisting of Medium-Rise Buildings 

and High-Rise Buildings.   

 

Mall and Rental Revenues 

Mall and rental revenues in 2016 amounted to P3,831.9 million, an increase of 15.4% or P510.5 

million from P3,321.4 million in 2015.   Three (3) new buildings were completed in the last quarter 

of 2015, and these have started to generate revenues in 2016. 

 

Hospitality Operations  

Hospitality revenues surged by 23.4% or P301.3 million from P1,286.1 million in 2015 to P1,587.4 

million in 2016 on account of revenues  contributed by MCI’s Quest Hotel and Golf, Clark which 

the Group started to operate in 2016. 

 

 

Banking and Financial Services 

 

Net Interest Income 

 

Banking and Financial Services Interest Income 

Interest income from banking and financial services soared 24.8% or by P3,514.2 million from 

P14,170.3 million in 2015 to P17,684.5 million in 2016 as a result of increase in lending activities, 

largely driven by growth in auto loans, corporate loans and salary loans to public school teachers.   

 

Costs of Banking and Financial Services 

Costs of banking and financial services increased by 27.5% or P563.9 million from P2,048.8 

million in 2015 to P2,612.7 million in 2016 attributed primarily to the strong growth in bank 

deposits. 

 

Net Interest Income 

Net interest income rose 24.3% or by P2,950.3 million from P12,121.5 million in 2015 to 

P15,071.8 million in 2016 mainly ascribed to higher volume of loans from expansion across 

business units. 

 

Power Operations 
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Power revenues registered a 21.4% growth or an increase of P1,321.9 million from P6,188.1 

million in 2015 to P7,510.0 million in 2016 as the coal plant started to contribute revenues when 

it commenced its operation in October 2016. 

 

Sugar Operations 

Sugar operations contributed sales of P2,562.5 million in 2016, an increase of 2.0% or P50.1 

million from  

P2,512.4 million sales in 2015.  

 

 

 

Other Income 

 

Other Income - Real estate operations 

Other income from real estate operations increased by 36.3% from P1,731.1 million in 2015 to 

P2,358.9 million in 2016 due to a P450.0 million income from liquidated damages qualified to be 

recognized as income in 2016. 

 

Other Income - Hospitality Operations 

Other income from hospitality operations posted an increase of more than 14 times or by P38.9 

million from P2.9 million in 2015 to P41.8 million in 2016 due to share in net income of a joint 

venture and higher foreign exchange gain and other miscellaneous income.  

 

Other Income - Banking and Financial Services 

Other income from banking and financial services jumped by 62.9% or P2,520.1 million from 

P4,004.9 million in 2015 to P6,525.0 million in 2016 on account of increase in service charges and 

fees from branch store transaction and consumer loan-related fees.  

 

Other Income - Power Operations  

Other income from power operations increased by 62.2% or P13.8 million from P22.2 million in 

2015 to P36.0 million in 2016 merely on account of income from scrap sales. 

 

 

 

Other Income - Sugar Operations 

Other income from sugar operations decreased by 51.3% or P32.1 million from P62.5 million in 

2015 to P30.4 million in 2016 due mainly to previous year’s higher income from sale of sugar 

conversion rights. 

 

 

Costs 
 

Costs of Sale of Lots, Condominium and Residential Units and Club Shares 

Costs of sale of lots, condominium and residential units and club shares amounted to P8,879.9 

million in 2016, higher by 1.7% or P146.3 million in 2015 due to movement in the amount of sales 

booked during the current period.    
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Costs of Mall and Rental Services 

Costs of mall and rental services increased from P540.0 million in 2015 to P582.3 million in 2016, 

an increase of 7.8% or P42.3 million basically due to depreciation of newly completed investment 

properties. 

 

Costs of Hospitality Operations 

Costs of hospitality operations increased by 99.7% or P391.4 million from P392.4 million in 2015 

to P783.8 million in 2016 mainly on account of additional business volume as the Group started 

to operate the MCI’s Quest Hotel and Golf, Clark in 2016, as previously mentioned. 

 

Costs of Banking and Financial Services 

Costs of banking and financial services is accounted for under net interest income in the “Revenues 

and Other Income”. 

 

Costs of Power Operations 

Costs of power operations in 2016 at P6,303.5 million was 15.8% or P857.7 million higher than 

the P5,445.7 million cost in 2015 attributed mainly to the operation of FDC Misamis coal plant 

which commenced in October 2016. 

 

Costs of Sugar Sales 

Costs of sugar sales in 2016 of P1,819.1 million was slightly lower by 0.6% than the P1,830.2 

million cost in 2015.  

 

Costs of Other Operations 

Costs of other operations increased by 9.5% or P54.8 million from P577.0 million in 2015 to 

P631.7 million in 2016 primarily attributable to translation adjustments. 

 

Expenses 

 

Real Estate Operations 

Expenses incurred for the real estate operations in 2016 amounted to P4,383.3 million, an increase 

of P558.7 million from P3,824.5 million in 2015, which came primarily from higher level of (a) 

general and administrative expenses due to some repairs expensed out in 2016 and increases in 

outside services and utilities; (b) selling and marketing expenses that arose from increase in 

brokers’ commission; and (c) interest and other financial charges driven by newly availed loans in 

2016. 

 

Hospitality Operations 

The Group’s hospitality operating expenses increased by 13.5% or by P102.8 million from P763.6 

million in 2015 to P866.4 million in 2016 largely attributed to the operations of MCI’s Quest Hotel 

and Golf, Clark and the recognition of rent expense in Clark Mimosa properties in accordance with 

PAS 17, Leases. 

 

Banking and Financial Services  
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Expenses of the banking and financial services escalated by 29.1% to P17,658.6 million in 2016 

from P13,681.4 million in 2015 because of (i) higher manpower cost on account of expanded 

business and stores; (ii) expanded branch network and operations which led to higher taxes and 

licenses, depreciation and amortization, rent, and miscellaneous expenses; and (iii) higher 

provision for probable losses as the Bank continued its conservative provisioning on account of its 

credit expansion. 

 

Power Operations 

The Group’s power operations’ expenses increased by 52.4% or P430.3 million from P821.0 

million in 2015 to P1,251.3 million in 2016 merely incurred from FDC Misamis coal plant which 

started operation in October 2016, consisting of interest expense on loans, manpower cost, 

professional fees, insurance and outside services. 

 

Sugar Operations 

Sugar operating expenses reduced by 11.2% to P171.9 million in 2016 from P193.6 million in 

2015 due mainly to lower depreciation, interest and other expenses. 

 

Others 

Other operating expenses remained almost flat at P985.7 million in 2016 compared with P989.9 

million in 2015. 

 

Provision for Income Tax 

Income tax provision went up by 28.3% or P689.4 million from P2,435.7 million in 2015 to 

P3,125.1 million in 2016.  Provision for current income tax increased by 44.6% or P794.6 million 

due to higher taxable income of the banking and financial services.  On the other hand, provision 

for deferred income tax decreased by 16.1% or P105.2 million on account of EW’s higher 

provision for probable losses, net of write-off, during the current reporting period.  

 

Net Income 

As a result of the above, consolidated net income soared by 20.6% or P1,445.8 million from 

P7,030.3 million in 2015 to P8,476.1 million in 2016. 

 

FINANCIAL CONDITION 

 

 

As at December 31, 2016 Compared with As at December 31, 2015 

 

Assets 

 

 

Total consolidated assets reached to P498,639.1 million as at December 31, 2016, an increase of 

18.9% from P419,408.9 million as at December 31, 2015.  Movements in asset accounts are as 

follows:   

 



Filinvest Development Corporation 

Management’s Discussion And Analysis 
Page 27 of 32 

 

 

Cash and cash equivalents went up by 17.8% or P9,602.2 million from P53,876.3 million as at 

December 31, 2015 to P63,478.4 million as at December 31, 2016 ascribed to EW’s higher cash 

level from increased bank deposits as a result of expanded branch store network. 

 

Loans and receivables from real estate operations amounted to P27,927.6  million, a slight increase 

from  

P27,226.6 million which mainly came from additional real estate sales during the period, offset by 

collections and recoupment of advances from contractors and suppliers. 

 

Loans and receivables from hospitality operations of P400.9 million registered a growth of 69.9% 

from P236.0 million at the back of increased volume of revenues and higher level of advances to 

suppliers related to Boracay project and newly opened Quest Hotel and Golf, Clark. 

Loans and receivables of the banking and financial services rose by 31.2% or by P44,523.5 million 

from  

P142,927.9 million to P187,451.4 million primarily attributable to increased business volume of 

customer loans on both consumer and mid-market segments. 

 

Loans and receivables from power operations increased by 26.2% or P324.2 million from P1,238.8 

million to P1,563.0 million as the operations of FDC Misamis coal plant commenced in 2016. 

 

Sugar operations’ receivables went up by 3.5% or P4.3 million from P122.3 million to P126.6 

million due to increased level of advances granted to sugar planters as a support to improve their 

sugar cane harvest. 

Financial assets at FVTPL decreased by 50.0% or P5,273.1 million from P10,540.8 million to 

P5,267.8 million due to movements in EW’s proprietary trading portfolio. 

Financial assets at FVTOCI remained at same level as last year at P421.7 million.  

Investment securities at amortized cost climbed by 141.0% to P11,129.5 million from P4,617.9 

million in line with EW’s balance sheet business model. 

 

Real estate inventories grew by 4.1% or P=2,198.1 million from P=54,007.3 million to P=56,205.4 

million, attributed to the additional projects launched and purchase of rawland for development. 

 

Coal, spare parts and other inventories showed an increase of 89.8% or P324.2 million from P=

361.0 million to P=685.2 million attributed to the inventories of power generation operations, 

consisting of coal and spare parts.  

 

Investment properties and property and equipment expanded by 11.3% and 24.8%, respectively, 

attributable to: (a) construction costs of new buildings in Northgate Cyberzone and Filinvest Cebu 

Cyberzone; (b) additional costs incurred for the construction of buildings for commercial lease; 

(c) cost of FDC Misamis coal plant which was completed in 2016; and (iii) additional construction 

and development costs of Boracay Seascapes Inc., renovations and improvements of Quest Hotel 

Clark and Crimson Mactan and the capitalized lease of Clark Mimosa properties in accordance 

with PAS 17, Leases. 
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Investments in joint ventures amounted to P649.8 million, an increase of 37.1% or P175.9 million 

mainly attributable to remeasurement of shares in joint venture offset by the proportionate share 

of EW in net loss. 

 

Deferred tax assets went up by 32.2% or P=569.2 million from P=1,769.1 million to P=2,338.3 on 

account of EW’s provision for probable losses, net of write-off, during the current reporting period.  

 

Goodwill increased by 20.7% or P=2,424.7 million from P=11,726.6 million to P=14,151.3 million 

due to additional goodwill from the acquisition of Standard Chartered Bank Philippines’ retail 

portfolio. 

 

IPP Administrator rights reduced by 13.8% or P=1,141.7 million from P=8,255.1 million to P=7,113.4 

million, mainly on account of usual take-up of amortization of IPPA intangible asset. 

 

Other assets amounted to P=19,036.1 million, a rise of 24.3% or P=3,718.8 million from P=15,317.3 

million mainly due to additional input taxes, various deposits and construction costs of the 

noncurrent assets acquired in relation to the BTO agreement with the Government of Cebu. 

 

 

Liabilities 

 

 

Total liabilities was at P394,684.2 million as at December 31, 2016, a 22.4% increase from end-

2015 balance of P322,494.8 million, with the following movements: 

 

Deposit liabilities soared by 34.6% to P221,979.3 million from P164,969.1 million largely coming 

from CASA growth brought about by expanded branch store network. 

 

Bills and acceptances payable decreased by 28.6% or P878.9 million from P3,073.5 million to 

P2,194.6 million due mainly to EW’s lower level of interbank and other borrowings as funding 

were obtained primarily from deposits. 

 

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities rose by 5.8% or P1,974.9 million from 

P33,910.1 million to P35,885.0 million led by EW’s higher level of payables on account of 

expanded stores. 

 

Liability on IPP Administrator contract reduced by 10.8% or P916.1 million from P8,446.3 million 

to P7,530.2 million primarily on account of payments to PSALM. 

 

Income tax payable decreased by 14.3% from P567.3 million to P486.5 million due to higher level 

of tax payments made in the quarterly filings of the banking and financial services. 

 

Short-term and long-term debt amounted to a total of P117,436.0 million, higher by 13.6% or 

P14,053.6 million than the P103,382.3 million balance as at December 31, 2015 as the Group 

availed of additional bank loans to finance its ongoing projects and developments. 
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Deferred tax liabilities increased by 12.6% or P1,026.5 million from P8,146.2 million to P9,172.8 

million recognized from additional capitalized borrowing costs on long-term loans and other 

temporary differences of financial and taxable income. 

 

Equity 

 

 

Cash dividends were declared by the Parent and its subsidiary, FLI out of their respective 

unappropriated retained earnings. On April 29, 2016, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the 

declaration of cash dividends to all stockholders of record as of May 27, 2016, in the amount of 

P0.0516 per share payable on June 21, 2016.  On the other hand, on April 22, 2016, the BOD of 

FLI approved the declaration of cash dividends amounting to P0.061 per share to all stockholders 

of record as of May 22, 2016 and payment date of June 15, 2016. On April 15, 2016, the BOD of 

EW approved the declaration of cash dividends amounting to P400.0 million or P0.27 per share 

with a record date of April 29, 2016 and payment date of May 13, 2016. 

 

The Group had commitments for capital expenditures for the project developments of the real 

estate segment, the requirement of the sugar manufacturing subsidiaries, the development and 

construction of power plant and other utility projects, the intended construction and management 

of various hotels, and the bank’s expansion and implementation of IT projects, which could be 

adequately covered by the operating cash flow and availment of medium and long term loans.  

 

Performance Indicators 

 

 

  
As of And For The 

Year Ended  

As of And For 

The Year Ended 

  
December 31, 2016 

 

December 31, 

2015 

       

       

Earnings Per Share -Basic (EPS)  P0.591 

/shar

e  P0.469 /share 

       

Net Income (Attributable to Equity Holders of the 

Parent)       

Weighted Average Number of Outstanding 

Shares       

       

Price Earnings Ratio (PE Ratio)  13.94 

Time

s  9.38 Times 

Closing Price       

Earnings Per Share       
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Return on Revenue  14%   14%  

Total Net Income       

Total Revenue       

       

Return on Equity (Average)  8%   8%  

Total Net Income       

Average Total Equity       

       

Assets to Equity Ratio  4.80: 1   4.32: 1  

Total Assets        

Total Equity       

       

Debt to Equity Ratio       

a)                                  Long-term Debt  1.13 : 1   1.04 : 1  

Total Equity       

       

       

  
As of And For The 

Year Ended  

As of And For 

The Year Ended 

  
December 31, 2016 

 

December 31, 

2015 

       

b)            Total Liabilities Excluding Deposit   

Liabilities,  Bills and Acceptances Payable and 

Liability on IPP Administration Contract  1.57 : 1   1.50 : 1  

Total Equity       

       

Current Ratio 

a)  Including EW       

Current Assets  1.02 : 1   1.07 : 1  

Current Liabilities*       

       

b) Excluding EW       

Current Assets  3.49 : 1   3.79 : 1  

Current Liabilities*       

       

Quick Ratio  1.08 : 1   1.23 : 1  

Current Assets – Inventories       

Current Liabilities*       

       

EBITDA to Total Interest Expense  7.62 

Time

s  8.56 Times 

EBITDA       

Total Interest Expense       
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*Excluding current portion of Liability on IPP 

Administrator Contract       

 

EPS for 2016 was P0.591, higher by 26.0% than the 2015 EPS of P0.469 on account of higher net 

income.  PE ratio was at 13.94 times as of December 31, 2016, higher than the 9.38 times PE ratio 

of end-2015 due to higher EPS and stock price. 

 

 
Notes to Financial Statements and Other Disclosures 

 

 

1. The attached consolidated financial statements are prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting 

Standards (PFRS). The accounting policies and methods of computation followed in the financial statements for 

the year ended December 31, 2016 are the same as those followed in the annual financial statements of the 

Company for the year ended December 31, 2015. 

 

2. Except for the sugar business, the operating activities of the Company are carried out uniformly over the calendar 

year.  The sugar milling season of the Company’s sugar subsidiaries is usually from November to June of the 

following year. Except for this milling season, there are no other unusual operating cycles or seasons during the 

year. 

 

3. Except as disclosed in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 

Operation, there are no unusual items affecting assets, liabilities, equity, net income or cash flows for the current 

period. There are no known trends, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that will have a material 

impact on the Company’s liquidity. 

 

4. There are no changes in estimates of amounts reported in the previous period that have material effects in the 

current period. 

 

5. Except for those discussed in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 

Operations, there are no issuances, repurchases and repayments of debt and equity securities. 

 

6. There were no other dividends paid (aggregate or per share) separately for ordinary shares and other shares during 

the current period, except as discussed in the previous sections. 

 

7. The Company derives its revenues from the following reportable segments: 

 

Real Estate 

This involves acquisition of land, planning and development of large-scale fully integrated residential 

communities as well as the development and sale of residential lots, housing units, medium-rise residential 

buildings, farm estates, industrial parks, residential resort projects, a private membership club and condominium 

buildings. This segment also involves operations and management of cinema and mall, property management and 

leasing of commercial and office spaces. 

 

Hospitality Operations 

This involves operation of hotels, including management of resorts, villas, golf course, service apartment and 

other services for the pleasure, comfort and convenience of guests in said establishments under its management. 

 

Banking and Financial Services 

This involves a wide range of financial services to consumer and corporate clients which includes deposit-taking, 

loan and trade finance, treasury, trust services, credit cards, cash management, custodial services, insurance 

services and leasing and finance.  The business units in this segment consist of retail banking, corporate banking, 

consumer banking, and treasury and trust. 
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Power Operations 

This involves the establishment, construction, operation of power plants and supply of power to offtakers and 

also includes management of power plants’ output under the IPP Administration contracts. 

 

Sugar Operations 

This involves operation of agricultural lands for planting and cultivating farm products, operation of a complete 

sugar central for the purpose of milling or converting sugar canes to centrifugal or refined sugar and selling of 

sugar. 

 

Other Operations 

This involves other operations of the Parent Company including CWSI and FDCI.  FDCI was incorporated to 

facilitate the Group’s issuance of foreign currency-denominated bonds while CWSI was incorporated to provide 

maintenance, operation, management and rehabilitation of waterworks sewerage and sanitation system and 

services specifically for the distribution, supply and sale of potable water to domestic, commercial and industrial. 

 

Financial information on the operations of these business segments as of and for the years ended December 31, 

2016 and 2015 are summarized and included in the accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 

8. Except as discussed in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 

Operations, there are no material events subsequent to December 31, 2016 up to the date of this report that have 

not been reflected in the financial statements for the current period. 

 

9. There have been no changes in the composition of the Company during the current period, such as business 

combination, acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and long-term investments, restructurings and discontinuing 

operations, except as discussed in the Developments of the Company and Management’s Discussion on its Results 

of Operations. 

 

10. There are no changes in contingent liabilities or contingent assets since December 31, 2016. 

 

11. There are no material contingencies and any other events or transactions affecting the current period. 

 

12. There are no known events that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to the 

Company, including any default or acceleration of an obligation. 

 



ANNEX “E” 
 

FILINVEST DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 
 

MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING  

 

Held on 04 May 2018, at 8:00 a.m. 

 

Ballrooms 1 and 2, Crimson Hotel Filinvest City, Manila 

Entrata Urban Complex, 2609 Civic Drive, Filinvest City,  

Alabang, Muntinlupa City 

 

 

I. ATTENDANCE 

 

 STOCKHOLDERS PRESENT:  

 

 No. of Shares Percentage 

 

Present by Proxies 7,630,375,985 88.23%                    

Present In Person  87,490,222 1.01% 

Total Attendance 7,717,866,207 89.24% 
 

 

ALSO PRESENT: 

 

Board of Directors 

 

Name Position 

Mr. Jonathan T. Gotianun Chairperson of the Board  

Chairperson – Executive Committee  

Member – Nominations Committee 

Member – Audit and Risk Management 

Oversight Committee 

Member – Compensation Committee 

Mrs. Mercedes T. Gotianun Member – Executive Committee 

Chairperson – Compensation Committee 

Chairperson – Nominations Committee 

Mrs. L. Josephine Gotianun-Yap President and Chief Executive Officer 

Member – Executive Committee 

Member – Nominations Committee 

Member – Audit and Risk Management 

Oversight Committee 

Member – Compensation Committee 

Mr. Andrew T. Gotianun, Jr. Vice Chairperson 

Member – Executive Committee 

Mr. Michael Edward T. Gotianun Member – Executive Committee 

Atty. Val Antonio B. Suarez Independent Director 

Chairperson – Audit and Risk 

Management Oversight Committee 

Member – Nominations Committee 

Virginia T. Obcena Independent Director 
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Chairperson – Audit and Risk 

Management Oversight Committee 
 

 

Key Officers, Senior Management Officers and Other Officers 

 

Name Position 

Mr. Nelson M. Bona  

 

Senior Vice President, Treasurer and 

Chief Financial Officer 

Mr. Daniel L. Ang Tan Chai Deputy Chief Financial Officer 

Atty. Elma Christine R. Leogardo Vice President and Corporate 

Secretary  

Atty. Sharon P. Pagaling-Refuerzo Assistant Corporate Secretary and 

Corporate Information Officer  

Ms. Bernadette M. Ramos Vice President, Group Real Estate 

Marketing 

  

Independent External Auditor 

 

Name Position 

Ms. Dhonabee B. Señeres Partner-In-Charge,  

Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co. 
 

 

II. NATIONAL ANTHEM 

 

  The meeting started with the singing of the Philippine National Anthem. 

 

III. PRESIDING OFFICER AND SECRETARY 

 

The Chairman of the Board, Mr. Jonathan T. Gotianun, presided over the 

meeting, while the Corporate Secretary, Atty. Elma Christine R. Leogardo, recorded 

the minutes thereof. 

 

IV. CALL TO ORDER 

 

  The Chairman called the meeting to order and requested the Corporate 

Secretary to report on the service of notice of the meeting, and whether there was a 

quorum at the meeting. 

 

V.  CERTIFICATION OF SERVICE OF NOTICE AND QUORUM 

 

The Corporate Secretary reported that the notice of the meeting, together with 

copies of the Information Statement and the 2017 Audited Financial Statements of the 

Company, were sent to each stockholder of record as of March 9, 2018, either by 

personal service or by mail, in compliance with the By-Laws of the Company.  

 

Based on the record of attendance and report on proxies received by the Office 

of the Corporate Secretary, with the assistance of the Company’s stock and transfer 

agent, Stock Transfer Service, Inc., the Corporate Secretary certified that out of the 

8,648,462,987 total issued and outstanding shares of the Company as of the record 

date or on March 9, 2018, 7,717,866,207 shares representing 89.24% of the total 
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issued and outstanding shares of the Company were present in person or by proxy at 

the meeting. 

  

 There being a quorum, the Chairman declared the meeting duly convened and 

open for business. 

 

VI. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL MEETING OF THE 

STOCKHOLDERS HELD ON 28 APRIL 2017 

 

The Corporate Secretary certified that copy of the minutes of the annual 

meeting of the stockholders held on April 28, 2017 was included in the notice of this 

year’s annual stockholders’ meeting. The Chairman requested the stockholders to refer 

to the minutes of the annual meeting of the stockholders held on April 28, 2017.  

 

Upon motion made by a stockholder and duly seconded by another 

stockholder, and in the absence of any objection, the minutes of the annual meeting of 

the stockholders held on April 28, 2017 was approved1, and the following resolution 

was accordingly passed: 

 

“RESOLVED, That the minutes of the annual meeting of the 

stockholders of the Company held on April 28, 2017 be, as they are 

hereby, approved in the form they were distributed.” 

 

VII. PRESENTATION OF THE PRESIDENT’S REPORT, APPROVAL OF THE 

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS OF AND FOR THE PERIOD 

ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017, AND DECLARATION OF CASH DIVIDENDS 

 

The President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Mrs. L. Josephine 

Gotianun-Yap, presented her report on the Company’s operations for the year ended 

December 31, 2017 based on the Company’s Audited Financial Statements for the 

same period, copies of which were distributed to all the stockholders of record as of 

March 9, 2018, together with the Information Statement. The President’s report was 

supplemented by a powerpoint presentation on the operational and financial highlights 

of the Company for the year 2017.  

 

The President also announced to the stockholders that the Board of Directors 

approved during its special meeting held before the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting on 

April 21, 2017 the declaration of cash dividends to all stockholders of record as of 

May 21, 2017 in the total amount of Php661.2 million or Php0.0765 per share. 

Payment date is set on June 28, 2018. 

 

After the presentation, the Chairperson inquired if the stockholders had any 

questions on the President’s report and the Audited Financial Statements for the year 

ended December 31, 2017.  

                                                           
1  

Total Votes FOR Total AGAINST Votes Total ABSTAIN Votes 

7,717,866,207  (7,630,375,985  proxy votes + 

87,490,222 votes of stockholders present in person) 

0 0 
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A stockholder inquired on the plans and future directions of the consortium 

formed with other companies for the unsolicited proposal on the rehabilitation of the 

Ninoy Aquino International Airport (“NAIA”). The President replied that the parties 

to the consortium are still in active discussions and negotiations with the government 

through the Department of Transportation on the final scope of the rehabilitation 

project. The President nonetheless expressed optimism that the joint efforts of the 

seven conglomerates forming part of the NAIA consortium in upgrading the 

international gateway will have a widespread benefit not only to the Company but 

also to the nation.  

 

Thereafter, and upon motion made by a stockholder and duly seconded by 

another stockholder, and in the absence of any objection, the stockholders noted the 

President’s Report, and approved the Company’s Audited Financial Statements2 for 

the year ended December 31, 2017. The following resolution was accordingly passed: 

 

“RESOLVED, That the President’s Report for the year 2017 

and the Company’s Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 

December 31, 2017 be, as it is hereby, approved.” 

 

VIII.  RATIFICATION OF ALL THE ACTS, RESOLUTIONS AND PROCEEDINGS 

OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND 

MANAGEMENT UP TO 04 MAY 2018 

 

The next item in the agenda was the ratification of all the acts, resolutions and 

proceedings of the Board of Directors, Executive Committee and Management from 

the date of the last annual stockholders’ meeting until May 4, 2018, a summary of 

which was included as an annex in the Information Statement sent to all the 

stockholders of record prior to the annual stockholders’ meeting.  

 

On motion made by a stockholder and duly seconded by another stockholder, 

and in the absence of any objection, all the acts, resolutions and proceedings of the 

Board of Directors, Executive Committee and Management from the date of the last 

annual stockholders’ meeting until May 4, 2018 was approved3, confirmed and 

ratified, and the following resolution was accordingly passed: 

 

“RESOLVED, That all the acts, resolutions and proceedings of 

the Board of Directors, Executive Committee and Management from 

the date of the last annual stockholders’ meeting until May 4, 2018 be, 

as they are hereby, approved, confirmed and ratified.” 

 

                                                           
2  

Total Votes FOR Total AGAINST Votes Total ABSTAIN Votes 

7,717,219,574 (7,629,729,352  proxy votes + 

87,490,222 votes of stockholders present in person) 

0 646,633 

 
3  

Total Votes FOR Total AGAINST Votes Total ABSTAIN VOTES 

7,717,866,207  (7,630,375,985  proxy votes + 

87,490,222 votes of stockholders present in person) 

0 0 
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IX. ELECTION OF DIRECTORS 

 

The Chairman announced that the next item in the Agenda was the election of 

seven (7) directors, including two (2) independent directors of the Company for the 

year 2017 to 2018.  

 

As requested by the Chairman, the Corporate Secretary announced the names 

of the persons nominated for election as directors and/or independent directors of the 

Company and who were pre-screened by the Nominations Committee in accordance 

with the Company’s Revised Manual on Corporate Governance and By-Laws, as 

follows: 

 

Directors: Independent Directors: 

1. Mrs. Mercedes T. Gotianun 

2. Mr. Andrew T. Gotianun, Jr. 

3. Mr. Jonathan T. Gotianun 

4. Mrs. Lourdes Josephine Gotianun Yap 

5. Mr. Michael Edward T. Gotianun 

1. Atty. Val Antonio B. Suarez 

2. Ms. Virginia T. Obcena 

 

The Corporate Secretary further confirmed that there were only seven (7) 

nominees for the seven (7) seats in the Company’s Board of Directors and there were 

no other nominations submitted within the period allowed under the Company’s By-

Laws and Revised Manual on Corporate Governance.  

 

 There being only seven (7) nominees for the seven (7) seats in the Company’s 

Board of Directors, the Chairman instructed the Corporate Secretary to cast the votes 

of the stockholders present in person or by proxy in the annual stockholders’ meeting 

in favor of the seven (7)) nominees (except as otherwise expressly instructed in the 

proxies received by the Office of the Corporate Secretary).  

 

With the required votes4 being obtained by the seven (7) nominees, the 

Chairman declared the following persons as duly elected directors of the Company: 

 

1. Mrs. Mercedes T. Gotianun 

2. Mr. Andrew T. Gotianun, Jr. 

3. Mr. Jonathan T. Gotianun 

4. Mrs. L. Josephine Gotianun-Yap 

5. Mr. Michael Edward T. Gotianun 

6. Atty. Val Antonio B. Suarez (Independent) 

7. Ms. Virginia T. Obcena (Independent) 

                                                           
4  

Name of Director / Independent 

Director 

Votes FOR AGAINST Votes ABSTAIN Votes 

Mercedes T. Gotianun 7,717,219,574 646,633 0 

Andrew T. Gotianun, Jr. 7,717,219,574 646,633 0 

Jonathan T. Gotianun 7,717,747,207 119,000 0 

L. Josephine Gotianun-Yap 7,699,747,207 18,119,000 0 

Michael Edward T. Gotianun 7,717,338,574 527,633 0 

Val Antonio B. Suarez 7,717,866,207 0 0 

Virginia T. Obcena 7,717,866,207 0 0 
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  The following resolution was thus approved: 

 

 “RESOLVED, That the following persons are hereby declared as duly 

elected directors of the Company, to serve for a term of one (1) year or until 

their successors shall have been elected and qualified in accordance with the 

By-Laws of the Company: 

 

1. Mrs. Mercedes T. Gotianun 

2. Mr. Andrew T. Gotianun, Jr. 

3. Mr. Jonathan T. Gotianun 

4. Mrs. L. Josephine Gotianun-Yap 

5. Mr. Michael Edward T. Gotianun 

6. Atty. Val Antonio B. Suarez (Independent) 

7. Ms. Virginia T. Obcena (Independent) 

  

X. APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR 

 

The Chairman explained that as of December 31, 2017, Ms. Dhonabee Señeres 

reached her five-year term limit under the Implementing Rules and Regulations of the 

Securities Regulation Code as the signing partner of the Company’s independent 

external auditor, SyCip Gorres and Velayo. 

 

Upon the recommendation of the Company’s Audit and Risk Management 

Oversight Committee, the Board directed Management to commence the selection 

process for its external auditor for the year 2018 by inviting major accounting firms to 

submit their engagement proposals. Considering that more time is needed to finally 

select the Company’s external auditor for 2018, your Management is requesting for 

the stockholders’ approval to delegate to the Board of Directors the power to appoint 

the external auditor of the Company for the year 2018. 

 

On motion made by a stockholder and duly seconded by another stockholder, 

and in the absence of any objection, the authority to appoint the external auditor of the 

Company for the year 2018 is hereby delegated to the Board of Directors. 5 

 

XI. OTHER MATTERS 

 

The Chairman inquired if there were other items for consideration in the 

Agenda.  

 

                                                           
5  

Total Votes FOR Total AGAINST Votes Total ABSTAIN VOTES 

7,717,866,207 (7,630,375,985 proxy 

votes + 87,490,222 votes of 

stockholders present in person) 

0 0 

 





ANNEX “F” 

SUMMARY OF THE IMPORTANT RESOLUTIONS APPROVED  

BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE  

FROM THE LAST ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING TO APRIL 2019 

 

(1) 

 

“RESOLVED, That the Corporation be, as it is hereby, authorized to enter into an 

agreement with AC Infrastructure Holdings Corporation, Aboitiz InfraCapital, Inc., Alliance 

Global Group, Inc., JG Summit Holdings, Inc., Asia’s Emerging Dragon Corporation and 

Metro Pacific Investments Corporation (collectively referred to herein as the “Parties”) for the 

formation of a consortium relating to and for the purpose of working together in relation to the 

preparation and submission of an unsolicited proposal for the improvement, upgrade, 

enhancement, and expansion of all the existing terminals of Ninoy Aquino International Airport 

(“NAIA”) covering both landside and airside activities, air traffic services, and retail operations 

(the “NAIA Project”); 

 

“RESOLVED, FURTHER, That the Corporation be, as it is hereby, authorized to 

engage, together with the Parties, such consultants required or necessary for the NAIA Project; 

 

“RESOLVED, FURTHERMORE, That the Corporation be, as it is hereby, 

authorized to submit the unsolicited proposal for the NAIA Project, together with the Parties, 

to the Department of Transportation and Manila International Airport Authority; 

 

“RESOLVED, FINALLY, That the Corporation’s Chairman of the Board, MR. 

JONATHAN T. GOTIANUN, and its President and Chief Executive Officer, MRS. L. 

JOSEPHINE GOTIANUN-YAP, acting singly or jointly, be, as they are hereby, authorized 

and empowered, to sign, execute and deliver, for and on behalf of the Corporation, the 

Memorandum of Agreement (“MOA”) with the Parties, engagement letters, contracts and other 

agreements with the NAIA Project consultants, to agree on the terms of the unsolicited 

proposal, as well as to perform any and all acts as may be required or necessary to implement 

the NAIA Project.” 

 

(2) 

 

“WHEREAS, the Corporation was the beneficial owner of 1,500 common shares of 

the capital stock of KRL Land, Inc. (“KRL”) and 1,500 common shares of the capital stock of 

Kewalram Realty, Inc. (“KRI”) [the “Shares”], and had certain receivables from KRL and KRI 

(the “Advances”); 

 

“WHEREAS, through a Trust Agreement dated September 6, 2017, the Corporation 

authorized PREM HEMANDAS, NARESH DASWANI, and MANIVANNAN 

GUNANATHAN (the “Trustees”) to do all acts necessary to implement the assignment, sale, 

transfer and conveyance of the Corporation’s rights and interests over the Shares and Advances 

to Nomager Holdings, Inc., including the authority to receive the consideration for the sale of 

the Shares and the assignment of the Receivables; 

  

“NOW, THEREFORE, be it RESOLVED, that the Corporation’s Executive Vice 

President, MS. CATHERINE A. ILAGAN, and Senior Assistant Vice President, MR. DON-

DON MARI S. UBALDO, acting singly or jointly, are hereby authorized and empowered to 

receive the consideration for the sale of the Shares and the assignment of the Receivables from 
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the Trustees, and for this purpose, to sign, execute, and deliver an acknowledgment receipt 

therefor.” 

 

(3) 

 

“WHEREAS, in 1993, Filinvest Development Corporation (the “Corporation”) 

decided to spin-off part of its land development business through the transfer of all or 

substantially all of its assets and liabilities pertaining to said business in favor of Filinvest 

Land, Inc. (“FLI”) in exchange for shares of stock of the latter; 

   

“WHEREAS, FLI agreed to the said spin-off and to take and carry on said land 

development business of the Corporation; 

 

“WHEREAS, pursuant thereto, the Corporation and FLI entered into a Deed of 

Exchange dated August 3, 1993; 

 

“NOW, THEREFORE, be it RESOLVED, That the Corporation hereby confirms 

and ratifies the Deed of Exchange dated August 3, 1993 entered into by and between the 

Corporation and FLI; 

 

“RESOLVED, FURTHER, That Corporation’s Authorized Representative, Mr. Luis 

Trinidad L. Fernandez, is hereby authorized and empowered to sign, execute, deliver, receive 

and receipt, for and on behalf of the Corporation, the Confirmation of Agreement (Deed of 

Exchange dated August 3, 1993), and any and all documents or instruments, and to do all acts, 

required or necessary to implement the said Deed of Exchange dated August 3, 1993.” 

 

(4) 

 

“RESOLVED, That the Board of Directors, upon the recommendation of the Audit 

and Risk Management Oversight Committee, hereby approves the Corporation’s audited 

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017;   

 

“RESOLVED, FURTHER, That the Corporation hereby approves and authorizes the 

submission and/or filing of the Corporation’s audited financial statements for the year ended 

31 December 2017 to the appropriate government agencies and regulatory bodies.” 

 

(5)  

 

“RESOLVED, That the Corporation hereby authorizes its Chairman of the Board of 

Directors, MR. JONATHAN T. GOTIANUN, to sign, execute, issue and deliver, for and on 

behalf of the Corporation, proxy/ies over the shares owned by the Corporation in Filinvest 

Land, Inc. (“FLI”), in favor of the following: 

 

a) To represent the Corporation and vote for one (1) common share each owned by 

the Corporation in FLI: 

 

1. Sharon P. Pagaling-Refuerzo; 

2. Edward L. Margarejo; 

3. Ma. Thristle L. Buxani; 

4. Ron Michael B. Garcia; 



ANNEX “F” 

Definitive Information Statement  

For the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting for 2019 

 

5. Joseph M. Go III;  

6. Karichi E. Santos; 

7. Venus B. Ambrona; 

8. Lou Diane B. Rigodon; 

9. June G. Tentativa; 

10. Ricky Boy V. Cabatu; and 

11. Armesh N. Agunday. 

 

b) To represent the Corporation and vote for ALL the remaining common and 

preferred shares owned by the Corporation in FLI: 

 

1. L. Josephine Gotianun-Yap 

 

     or in her absence, 

 

2. Jonathan T. Gotianun 

 

in ALL matters to be taken up at the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting of FLI to be held on 20 

April 2018 and at any adjournments thereof.” 

 

(6)  

  

“RESOLVED, That the Corporation’s President & CEO, MRS. LOURDES 

JOSEPHINE GOTIANUN-YAP, be, as she is hereby, designated as the Corporation’s proxy 

to represent it and to vote all of its shares in East West Banking Corporation (“EWBC”) at 

EWBC’s Annual Stockholders’ Meeting to be held on 20 April 2018 and any adjournments 

thereof.” 

 

(7) 
 

“RESOLVED, That the Corporation be, as it is hereby, authorized to avail of the 

additional shared term loan facility made available by the Bank of the Philippine Islands 

(“BPI”) up to an aggregate amount of Five Billion Pesos (Php 5,000,000,000.00); 

 

  “RESOLVED FURTHER, That the following officers of the Corporation, whose 

specimen signatures appear hereunder: 

 

     Name    Position       Specimen Signature 

  

L. JOSEPHINE G. YAP  President and Chief         ______________________ 

                                                    Executive Officer 

 

NELSON M. BONA  Treasurer and 

     Chief Financial Officer   ______________________ 

  

EFREN M. REYES  Authorized Signatory       ______________________ 

 

are hereby authorized, whether acting singly or jointly, to negotiate, enter into, sign, execute 

and deliver memorandum of agreements, loan agreements, promissory notes, bills purchase 

forms, and such other agreements, contracts, applications, forms, instruments and documents 
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as may be required by BPI, under such terms and conditions as said officers may deem 

beneficial to the Corporation; 

 

 “RESOLVED, FINALLY, That BPI be furnished a copy of the foregoing resolutions 

for its guidance, on whose authority it may continue to rely, unless and except to the extent 

that the foregoing resolutions shall be revoked or modified by the receipt of any subsequent 

resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Corporation.” 

 

(8) 

 

“RESOLVED, That the Corporation be, as it is hereby, authorized and empowered to 

declare to all stockholders of record as of 03 June 2018 cash dividends in the amount of P0.0765 

per share; 

 

 “RESOLVED, FURTHER, That the cash dividends of P0.0765 per share be paid to 

all stockholders of record on 28 June 2018.” 

 

(9) 

 

 “RESOLVED, That the Corporation be, as it is hereby, authorized to avail of the 

additional loan facility made available by the Land Bank of the Philippines (LBP) up to an 

aggregate amount of Five Billion Pesos (Php 5,000,000,000.00).   

 

 “RESOLVED, FURTHER, That the following officers of the Corporation, whose 

specimen signatures appear hereunder: 

 

     Name                      Position            Specimen Signature  

 

     L. JOSEPHINE G. YAP                President and Chief  

                   Executive Officer        ______________________ 

 

    NELSON M. BONA              Treasurer and Chief  

            Financial Officer       ______________________ 

 

    EFREN M. REYES     Authorized Signatory     ______________________ 

 

are hereby authorized, whether acting singly or jointly, to negotiate, enter into, sign, execute 

and deliver memorandum of agreements, loan agreements, promissory notes, bills purchase 

forms, and such other agreements, contracts, application, forms, instruments and documents as 

may be required by LBP, under such terms and conditions as said officers may deem beneficial 

to the Corporation; 

 

“RESOLVED, FINALLY, That LBP be furnished a copy of the foregoing resolutions 

for its guidance, on whose authority it may continue to rely, unless and except to the extent 

that the foregoing resolutions shall be revoked or modified by the receipt of any subsequent 

resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Corporation”. 
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(10) 

 

“RESOLVED, That the Corporation is hereby authorized to apply for Tax Clearance 

Certificate for Bidding Purposes with the Bureau of Internal Revenue (“BIR”); 

 

“RESOLVED, FURTHER, That ATTY. THRISTLE L. BUXANI or MR. VITO 

Y. ESPONILLA, JR. are hereby authorized to sign, execute and submit the application for 

Tax Clearance and all necessary supporting documents and instruments, and to process, 

follow-up, claim and receive, for and in behalf of the Corporation, the Corporation’s said Tax 

Clearance Certificate from the BIR.” 

 

(11) 

 

“RESOLVED, AS IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, that Filinvest Development 

Corporation be, and is, authorized to participate, through a Consortium consisting of the 

following Members, and their respective nationalities and committed percentage interests in 

the Consortium, in the Bidding for the existing and the new passenger terminal and associated 

landside development works for the Clark International Airport Project (“Project”) and to 

submit the Qualification Documents and Bid Proposals for the Project;  

 

Name of Consortium Member Nationality % Interest 

 

Filinvest Development Corporation Filipino 37% 

JG Summit Holdings, Inc. Filipino 33% 

Changi Airport Philippines Pte. Ltd. Singaporean 20% 

Philippine Airport Ground Support 

Solutions, Inc. 

Filipino 10% 

 

 “RESOLVED FURTHER, that Filinvest Development Corporation in the exercise 

of its interest in the Consortium hereby: 

 

(a) designates Filinvest Development Corporation as Lead Member of the 

Consortium with the authority to represent Consortium during the Bidding 

for the Project;   

 

(b) designates Ms. Ana Venus A. Mejia as the authorized representative of the 

Consortium during the Bidding for the Project, and for such purpose shall 

have the authority to execute, sign, submit, and receive documents for, and 

otherwise act in the name of the Consortium. 

 

“RESOLVED, FURTHER, that any and all acts done and/or performed by Filinvest 

Development Corporation and Ms. Ana Venus A. Mejia under and by virtue of this resolution 

be, as they are hereby, confirmed and ratified. 

 

“RESOLVED FURTHER, that Filinvest Development Corporation shall maintain its 

percentage interest in the Consortium in accordance with its Bid, the Instructions to Bidders 

and the O&M Concession Agreement, and thereafter shall comply with the requirements and 

restrictions on changes in ownership as stated in the O&M Concession Agreement; 
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“RESOLVED, FURTHER, that in the event that the Consortium is declared as the 

Winning Bidder, Filinvest Development Corporation will cooperate with the other Consortium 

Members to register a domestic corporation with the Philippine Securities and Exchange 

Commission and comply with all other requirements specified in the Instructions to Bidders 

and the O&M Concession Agreement; 

 

“RESOLVED FURTHER, that in the event the Bidder is declared as the Winning 

Bidder, it commits to fulfill all the requirements in Section 12 (Notice of Award, Post-Award 

Requirements & Execution of O&M Concession Agreement) of the Instructions to Bidders, 

including the submission and completion of the Post-Award Requirements, the posting of the 

Operation Performance Security and the signing of the O&M Concession Agreement with the 

BCDA. 

 

“RESOLVED, FINALLY, that Filinvest Development Corporation jointly and 

severally binds itself with the other Consortium Members listed above in undertaking the 

obligations of the Consortium in the Bidding for the Project until, if the Consortium is selected 

as the Winning Bidder, the corporation formed by the Consortium signs the O&M Concession 

Agreement, or if the Consortium is not declared as the Winning Bidder, until one hundred 

eighty (180) days after the Bid Submission Date.” 

 

(12) 

 

“RESOLVED, AS IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED, that Filinvest Development 

Corporation amends the first resolution adopted by the Board of Directors on 25 July 2018 (the 

“Initial Meeting”) authorizing Filinvest Development Corporation to participate in the 

Bidding for the existing and the new passenger terminal and associated landside development 

works for the Clark International Airport Project (“Project”) and to submit the Qualification 

Documents and Bid Proposals for the Project, as follows;  

 

Name of Consortium Member Nationality % Interest 

Filinvest Development Corporation Filipino 42% 

JG Summit Holdings, Inc. Filipino 33% 

Changi Airports Philippines Pte. Ltd. Singaporean 15% 

Philippine Airport Ground Support Solutions, Inc. Filipino 10% 

 

“RESOLVED FINALLY, that all the other resolutions adopted by the Board of 

Directors of Filinvest Development Corporation at the Initial Meeting are hereby ratified and 

confirmed and remain effective and in force.” 

 

(13) 

 

 “WHEREAS, The Corporation is the lawful and registered owner of a parcel of land 

located at Barrio Mactan, Lapu-lapu City, Province of Cebu, covered by Transfer Certificate 

of Title No. 110-2014001044 with an approximate area of 1,746 square meters (the 

“Property”), a copy of which is hereto attached as Annex “A”;  

 

“RESOLVED, That the Corporation hereby allows Countrywide Water Services, Inc. 

(“CWSI”) to utilize a portion of the Property for purposes of constructing, developing, 

installing and commissioning a water desalination facility (the “Facility”) for the use and 

benefit of Crimson Resort & Spa Mactan and other locators of the Seascapes Resort Town; 
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“RESOLVED, FURTHER, That NELSON M. BONA and/or ALBERTO L. 

CATALUÑA, acting singly or jointly, are hereby authorized and empowered to sign, execute, 

and submit, for and on behalf of the Corporation, the appropriate application forms and other 

supporting documents and papers, to secure the permits, clearances and licenses relating to the 

utilization of CWSI of the above-mentioned Property and to perform all acts, required or 

necessary to implement the foregoing resolutions.”  
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